Panchoo, Marlyn., <u>Role of Scavenger Receptor Class B Type 1 in High-Risk Neuroblastoma</u>.
Doctor of Philosophy (Biochemistry and Cancer Biology), November 2017, 89 pages, 4 tables, 23 figures.

Neuroblastoma (NB), the most common extra-cranial childhood cancer in the United States is responsible for 15% of all pediatric cancer deaths. Due to advancements in treatment approaches, survival in low- and intermediate-risk NB patients now exceeds 90%. However, patient outcome for high-risk NB still remains poor with an overall survival of less than 50%. Nearly all high-risk NB patients present with metastatic disease at diagnosis and are unresponsive to intense chemotherapy, radiotherapy or aggressive surgery. Recently, the highdensity lipoprotein (HDL) receptor, scavenger receptor class B type 1 (SR-B1), has emerged as an important indicator of cancer progression and patient outcome. Moreover, cancerous cells exhibit a higher expression of SR-B1 than normal non-malignant cells. SR-B1 is mainly responsible for the selective uptake of cholesteryl ester (CE) from HDL but also mediates reverse cholesterol transport.

In this study, the expression of SR-B1 was identified on high-risk NB cells. Blocking of SR-B1 diminished cell proliferation, migration and invasion and induced apoptosis. Additionally, inhibition of SR-B1 reduced CE content in high-risk NB cells. Finally, high expression of SR-B1 in NB biopsy samples correlated with poor patient outcome. Taken together, this study identified SR-B1 expression as a potential regulator of high-risk NB progression linked to changes in cellular cholesterol metabolism. These findings also identify SR-B1 as a potential target for treatment of high-risk NB.

ROLE OF SCAVENGER RECEPTOR CLASS B TYPE 1 IN HIGH-RISK NEUROBLASTOMA

DISSERTATION

Presented to the Graduate Council of the Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences University of North Texas Health Science Center at Fort Worth in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

By

Marlyn Panchoo, B.S., M.S. Fort Worth, Texas

November 2017

Dedicated to Amelia...

In memory of my grandmother, Cecilia Panchoo

You're always in our hearts.

ACKNOWLEGEMENTS

Throughout this journey I've received immense support and encouragement. I would like to thank my dissertation committee members- Dr. Harlan Jones, Dr. Maya Nair, Dr. Riyaz Basha, Dr. Shaohua Yang and my major professor Dr. Andras Lacko for their guidance, encouragement and support. I appreciate the time you took to serve on my advisory committee and your invaluable suggestions.

Very special thank you to my lab colleagues for listening to me talk about my research, helping me troubleshoot experiments and encouraging me throughout these passed 4½ years. I would like to thank my graduate advisor Dr. Alakananda Basu for setting high expectations and challenging me to do better than my best. I thank Dr. Keisa Mathis for reviewing my dissertation; I am grateful for your valuable comments. In addition, I would like to thank Dr. Barbara Batetta and her lab at the University of Cagliari, Italy for teaching me all I needed to know about cholesterol metabolism research. It was a truly a privilege to work under your mentorship.

I am indebted to my family and friends for their unwavering support and belief in my success. I am grateful to my mother, Theresa; father, Richard; brother, Marlon and sister, Misha. Thanks for always being there and encouraging me to keep pushing on. Your constant prayers and many laughs were a source of comfort throughout this venture. To my aunts Rebecca and Millicent, words cannot express my gratitude. Thank you for your support, encouragement, and the many reprieves to New York. I would also like to thank my grandfather, my many aunts, uncles and cousins. Having such a loving and supportive family is a blessing. To my love Shannon, my 'SRB-1', thank you for your patience, encouragement and the laughs. To my friends

iv

near and far, I appreciate the many calls and motivational messages. Finally, I thank God for His grace, favor and strength throughout this journey. Without Him this would not be possible.

"To God be the Glory, Great things He has done".

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	X
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xii

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1. Neuroblastoma

	1.1.1. History and Epidemiology	1
	1.1.2. Development and Diagnosis	2
	1.1.3. Classification and Staging	4
	1.1.4. Molecular Biology	6
	1.1.5. Risk Stratification and Treatment	8
1.2. Sc	eavenger Receptor Class B Type I	
	1.2.1. Structure and Function	12
	1.2.2. Mechanism of Action	14
	1.2.3. SR-B1 and Cancer	14
1.3. Cł	holesterol	
	1.3.1. Cholesterol Metabolism	16
	1.3.2. Cholesterol and Cancer	17
	1.3.3. Cholesterol Metabolism and SR-B1	18

1.3.4. Acyl-coenzyme A: cholesterol acyltransferase	19
1.4. Significance and Hypothesis	
1.4.1. Significance	21
1.4.2. Hypothesis	22
CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS	23
CHAPTER 3:RESULTS	
3.1. Association of SR-B1 Expression with Neuroblastoma Aggressiveness	
3.1.1. SR-B1 is expressed in NB cells	29
3.1.2. Association of SR-B1 protein expression with cell proliferation and	l cell
migration	32
3.1.3. Effect of SR-B1 inhibition on cell survival, migration and invasion	35
3.1.4. SR-B1 inhibition induces apoptosis in NB cells	40
3.2. SR-B1 regulates Cholesterol Metabolism in NB	
3.2.1. Intracellular lipid droplets are present in NB cells	43
3.2.2. High levels of cholesterol esterification in high SR-B1expressing co	ells 45
3.2.3. Inhibition of ACAT influence cell survival and induces apoptosis	46
3.2.4. SR-B1 inhibition produces a greater reduction in cell survival than	ACAT
inhibition	46
3.2.5. SR-B1 inhibition decreases cellular cholesterol content	49
3.2.6. Effect of delipidated serum on NB cells	51
3.2.7. HDL rescues cells cultured in delipidated serum	53

High SR-B1 Expression influences NB Patient Outcome	56
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	60
REFERENCES	66

LIST OF TABLES

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Table 1.1. Prognostic Evaluation of Neuroblastic tumors based on the Internation	onal
Neuroblastoma Pathology Classification	5
Table 1.2. Image-Defined Risk Factors (IDRFs) in Neuroblastic Tumors	9

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

Table 3.1. Characteristics of Neuroblastoma Cell Lines	30
Table 3.2. Patient Clinicopathological Characteristics	57

LIST OF FIGURES

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Figure 1.1. Neural Crest Cell Derivatives	2
Figure 1.2. Neuroblastoma Patient Survival based on Risk Groups	10
Figure 1.3. Current High-Risk Neuroblastoma Standard-of-Care Treatment Approach	11
Figure 1.4. SR-B1 Protein Structure	12
Figure 1.5. Receptor-mediated Lipoprotein Cholesterol Transfer	15

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

Figure 3.1. SR-B1 Expression in NB Cells and normal human astrocytes	31
Figure 3.2. Cell Proliferation Curve of NB Cells	33
Figure 3.3. Migration of NB Cells	34
Figure 3.4. SR-B1 reduces NB Cell Survival	36-37
Figure 3.5. SR-B1 Inhibition reduces Cell Migration and Invasion	38-39
Figure 3.6. SR-B1 Inhibition induces Apoptosis	41-42
Figure 3.7. Intracellular Lipid Accumulation	44
Figure 3.8. ACAT Activity in NB Cells	45
Figure 3.9. ACAT Inhibition reduces Cell Survival	47
Figure 3.10. ACAT Inhibition induces Apoptosis	48
Figure 3.11. Effect of SR-B1 and ACAT Inhibition on Cell Survival	49
Figure 3.12. SR-B1 Inhibition reduces Cellular Cholesterol Content	50

Figure 3.13. Effect of Lipid-depleted Serum on NB Cells	52
Figure 3.14. Delipidated Serum reduces NB Cellular Cholesterol Content	53
Figure 3.15. Effect of Lipid-depleted Serum SR-B1 Expression	54
Figure 3.16. Effect of HDL addition on Cell Survival	55
Figure 3.17. High SR-B1 Expression is correlated with reduced Patient Survival	58
Figure 3.18. High SR-B1 Expression is correlated with reduced high-risk Patient Surviva	ul 59

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ACAT	Acyl-coenzyme A: Cholesterol Acyl Transferase
ALK	Anaplastic Lymphoma Receptor Tyrosine Kinase
apoA-I	Apolipoprotein A-I
apoB	Apolipoprotein B
ATCC	American Type Culture Collection
ATRX	A-thalassaemia/mental Retardation Syndrome X-linked
BCA	Bicinchoninic Acid
BDNF	Brain Derived Neurotrophic Factor
BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin
CCK-8	Cell Counting Kit-8
ccRCC	Clear Cell Renal Cell Carcinoma
CE	Cholesteryl Ester
СНО	Chinese Hamster Ovary
CLA	CD36-and-LIMPII analogous-1
CML	Chronic Myelogenous Leukemia
COPD	Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
СТ	Computerized Tomography
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
FBS	Fetal Bovine Serum
FITC	Fluorescein Isothiocyanate
GD2	Ganglioside 2

GEO	Gene Expression Omnibus
GM-CSF	Granulocyte Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor
H&E	Hematoxylin and Eosin
HDL	High-Density Lipoprotein
HMG-CoA	3-hydroxy-3-methyl-glutaryl-coenzyme A
HRNB	High-Risk Neuroblastoma
HVA	Homovanillic Acid
IDRFs	Image-defined Risk Factors
IL-2	Interleukin-2
IMDM	Iscove's Modified Dulbecco's Medium
INRG	International Neuroblastoma Risk Group
INRGSS	International Neuroblastoma Risk Group Staging System
INSS	International Neuroblastoma Staging System
ITS	Insulin-Transferrin-Selenium
IV	Intavenous
kDa	Kilodalton
КОН	Potassium Hydroxide
LDL	Low-Density Lipoprotein
LDLR	Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor
MAPK	Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinases
MIBG	Meta-iodobenzylguanidine
MKI	Mitosis-Karyorrhexis Index
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
mTOR	Mechanistic Target of Rapamycin
MYCN	Neuroblastoma-derived v-myc avian myelocytomatosis viral related oncogene

NADH	Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide
NB	Neuroblastoma
NGF	Nerve Growth Factor
NPC	Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma
NSE	Neuron-Specific Enolase
NT	Neuroblastic Tumors
NT3	Neurotrophin-3
PBS	Phosphate-Buffered Saline
PDZK1	PSD95/Drosphilia dises-large/tight junction protein ZO1 containing 1
PHOX2B	Paired-like Homeobox 2b
PI	Propidium Iodide
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol-3-Kinase
PSA	Prostate Specific Antigen
RER	Rough Endoplasmic Reticulum
RIPA	Radioimmunoprecipitation Assay
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute
SD	Standard Deviation
SDS	Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate
SR-B1	Scavenger Receptor Class B Type 1
VLDL	Very Low-Density Lipoprotein
VMA	Vanillylmandelic Acid
XRT	External-beam Radiotherapy

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1. Neuroblastoma

1.1.1. History and Epidemiology

In 1864, Dr. Rudolf Virchow was the first to identify a type of neuroblastic carcinoma [1]. Though he described the lesion as a "glioma", his findings led to studies by physicians who went on to further identify the pathology and neural cell origin of NB [1-3]. In 1910, Dr. James H. Wright published an article describing a then unrecognized tumor consisting of undifferentiated nerve cells which he named neuroblastoma (NB) [3]. Since then understanding of the development of NB has dramatically increased leading to advancement in therapeutics and patient survival [4-11].

In North America, NB accounts for 7% of all cancers diagnosed in children between the ages of 0 to 14 years and is responsible for 15% of all childhood cancer deaths [12]. Approximately 700 cases of NB are diagnosed each year, with 1 case per every 7000 live births [7,13,14]. The average age at diagnosis is less than 12 months old and 90% of cases are diagnosed by the age of 5 years [14,15]. NB in patients over 30 years is rare with nearly 0.2 cases per every million people per year [16]. About 50% of NB tumors arise in the adrenal gland but NB also occurs at sites such as the neck, chest, abdomen, and spinal column [13]. Although studies have examined whether there are environmental factors that may be related to whites

having a significantly higher incidence of NB as compared to children of other races, or boys having a slightly higher incidence than girls, no compelling risk factor has been discovered [17].

1.1.2. Development and Diagnosis

NB develops from neural crest cells and can be found anywhere along the sympathetic nervous system [12]. During embryogenesis normal neural crest cells migrate close to the neural tube and develop into a wide range of cell types such as peripheral neurons, Schwann cells, glia and cells of the adrenal medulla (Figure 1.1) [18,19]. It is widely accepted that NB arises when neural crest cells remain undifferentiated at sites along the sympathoadrenal chain [19]. NB cells often take on an appearance like Schwann cells (S-type cells) or immature neurons of the sympathetic nervous system (N-type cells) [12].





NB is a complex heterogeneous disease whose clinical presentation varies widely depending on the location, metabolic by-products and metastasis of the primary tumor. Patients with localized tumors are often asymptomatic and discovery of tumors are usually incidentally [6]. Patients with disseminated disease however, present with symptoms such as bone pain and pancytopenia [21,22]. The most common presentation of NB is an abdominal mass. Other signs and symptoms of NB includes paralysis (caused by the tumor compressing the spinal cord), fever, hypertension, anemia, subcutaneous nodules (caused by skin metastases) and the presence of miosis, ptosis, and anhidrosis (Horner syndrome) [23].

The internationally recommended criteria for NB diagnosis is based on either: 1) light microscopy (with or without immunohistology or electron microscopy) of tumor tissue indicating unequivocal presence of pathology, along with increased urine or serum catecholamine metabolites; or 2) trephine biopsy or bone marrow aspirate showing presence of unequivocal tumor cells such as syncytia or clumps of imunocytologically positive cells and increased urine or serum catecholamine metabolites [24].

Diagnostic evaluation of NB is via biopsy, tumor imaging and assessment of urine and serum catecholamines and metabolites [4,24]. A biopsy of the tumor and bone marrow, in the case of metastatic disease, is needed to identify factors such as *MYCN* oncogene status, DNA ploidy and 1p chromosomal deletion [24]. In addition, tumor samples are needed to assess tumor histopathology and subsequent risk and treatment stratification [23,24]. Computerized tomography (CT) scans and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) are used to visually localize tumors and identify paraspinal tumors via MRI. Meta-iodobenzylguanidine (MIBG) scintigraphy utilizes radioisotopes of iodine (I-131 or I-123) to locate tumor, metastases and residual tumor

tissue after surgical resection [6,25]. MIBG localizes to adrenergic tissues [26]. Elevation in urine, and in special cases, serum catecholamine metabolites indicate the presence of NB disease. A study in Japan showed that elevation of the urinary catecholamine metabolites, vanillylmandelic acid (VMA) and homovanillic acid (HVA), 2.5 standard deviations above the mean per milligram of excreted creatinine is appropriate for diagnosing NB [27].

Furthermore, the involvement of pathologists who are knowledgeable about pediatric cancers is required for NB diagnosis. The typical hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining with light microscopy, by itself, is insufficient to diagnose NB [23]. The small round blue cells observed from H&E staining are morphologically similar to Ewing sarcoma, rhabdomyosarcoma and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma [23,24,28]. Thus the use of immunologic reagents such as neuron-specific enolase (NSE) and ganglioside 2 (GD2) antibodies along with cytogenetic analysis of the tumor is recommended for correct diagnosis [24,29,30].

1.1.3. Classification and Staging

The Shimada system of histopathological classification of neuroblastic tumors (NTs) was originally developed in 1984 [31]. Dr. Hiroyuki Shimada proposed the classification of NTs into categories based on stromal development and content, age at diagnosis, degree of differentiation, and the mitosis –karyorrhexis index (MKI) [31]. The International Neuroblastoma Pathology Classification was established in 1999 to regulate the terminology and criteria used for prognostic assessment of the morphological features of NTs [32]. The assignment of favorable or unfavorable prognosis is determined based on the aforementioned histological features and the patients' age (Table 1.1.) [31-34].

Table 1.1. Prognostic Evaluation of Neuroblastic tumors based on the InternationalNeuroblastoma Pathology Classification: Patients with neuroblastic tumors are classifiedbased on the morphological features of the tumor, level of tumor differentiation and patient's age.

International Neuroblas	toma Pathology classification	Original Shimada classification	Prognostic group
Neuroblastoma	(Schwannian stroma-poor)		
Favorable		Favorable	Favorable
<1.5 years	Poorly differentiated or differentiating & low or intermediate MKI tumor		
1.5–5 years	Differentiating & low MKI tumor		
Unfavorable		Unfavorable	Unfavorable
<1.5 years	a) Undifferentiated tumor ^a b) High MKI tumor		
1.5–5 years	 a) Undifferentiated or poorly differentiated tumor b) Intermediate or high MKI tumor 		
≥5 years	All tumors		
Ganglioneuroblastoma, intermixed	(Schwannian stroma-rich)	Stroma-rich Intermixed	Favorable ^b
Ganglioneuroma	(Schwannian stroma-dominant)		
Maturing		Well differentiated (favorable)	Favorable ^b
Mature		Ganglioneuroma	
Ganglioneuroblastoma, nodular	(composite Schwannian stroma- rich/stroma-dominate and stroma- poor)	Stroma-rich nodular (unfavorable)	Unfavorable ^b

MKI: mitosis karyorrhaxis index

Adapted from Shimada, Cancer (1999)[32], and P. D. Q. Pediatric Treatment Editorial Board (2017)[4] ^aRare subtype, especially diagnosed in this group.

^bThese prognostic groups are not related to the age of the patient.

Another clinical variable used to predict patient outcome is stage of disease. The International Neuroblastoma Staging System (INSS) was established in 1988 to develop a worldwide system for determining stage of NB tumors [35,36]. Tumors are classified into five stages, stage 1, stage 2A, stage 2B, stage 3, stage 4 and stage 4S, based on post clinical evaluation and ease of surgical resection [24,35]. Stage 1 tumors are localized, completely resectable and show no lymph node involvement. Stage 2A and 2B are also localized tumors but with incomplete excision and, in the case of stage 2B lymph node involvement. Stage 3 tumors are unresectable having spread across the midline of the body and may or may not involve lymph nodes. Stage 4 tumors have metastasized to organs and distant lymph nodes. The final stage, stage 4S, are localized tumors as characterized in stage 1, 2A or 2B with metastasis to the skin, liver and/or bone marrow only and are present in infants less than 1 year old and almost always spontaneously regress [24,36,37]. Identifying the correct stage is essential as NB stage determines the treatment protocol administered. The complexity and diversity of NB and its implications for treatment have initiated substantial research into the biological and genetic factors that drives this disease.

1.1.4. Molecular Biology

NB cells are characterized by a variety of somatic genetic mutations, which have been extensively studied [38-41]. Most NBs are sporadic and occur in children who have no family history of the disease. However, less than 2% of NBs are inherited from parents. Familial NB occurs when mutations in the signaling pathway that regulate the sympathoadrenal lineage are passed from parent to child [19,42]. The paired-like homeobox 2b (PHOX2B), which regulates neuronal differentiation and cell cycle exit, was the first mutation identified in familial NB. The

anaplastic lymphoma receptor tyrosine kinase (*ALK*) gene is another common lesion present in familial NB. *ALK* gene amplification and somatic *ALK*- activating mutations are common in sporadic NB along with α -thalassaemia/mental retardation syndrome X-linked (*ATRX*) mutations [19].

A major genetic alteration in NB is MYCN amplification. It occurs in 20% of NB tumors and is an indicator of poor prognosis [19]. MYCN is a member of the MYC proto-oncogene family, and was first identified as amplified DNA with homology to viral myc in NB cell lines [40,43]. MYCN is a transcription factor that regulates the growth, differentiation, and survival of the cells in the nervous system and is also present in the neural crest [19,40]. Deletion of the short arm of chromosome 1(1p) is the most notable loss of heterozygosity (LOH) observed in NB. 1p deletion is present in about 30% of NB cases and correlates to both progressive disease and MYCN amplification however, whether deletion of 1p can independently be an indicator of prognosis remains a debated issue [44]. Other genetic alterations in NB includes deletion of 11q, gain of copies of 17q and DNA ploidy usually observed in low risk tumor [44]. Moreover, the neurotrophic receptors and their ligands: nerve growth factor (NGF), brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and neurotrophin-3 (NT3) regulate neural cell growth, survival and differentiation. Tyrosine kinases of the NGF family TRK-A, TRK-B and TRK-C have been implicated in NB prognosis. In the presence of NGF, Trk-A expressing neuroblasts differentiate into mature neural cells [45]. As a result, a high level of Trk-A is considered a prognostic marker of favorable outcome in NB [24,38,46]. Conversely, expression of Trk-B and BDNF are associated with MYCN amplification and high-risk NB tumors. These factors together establish an autocrine survival loop that enhances proliferation, chemoresistance and metastasis [45,46].

1.1.5. Risk Stratification and Treatment

Assessment of risk in NB requires an examination of histopathological and biological features and INSS stage. The International Neuroblastoma Risk Group (INRG) task force was established in 2004 [47] to develop a common approach for pretreatment NB risk assessment. Unlike INSS, International Neuroblastoma Risk Group Staging System (INRGSS) staging is based on "image-defined risk factors" (IDRFs) such as encasement of the brachial plexus and infiltration of adjacent organs or structures (Table 1.2) [48]. INRGSS is divided into four stages: L1- localized tumor without any IDRFs, L2- localized tumor with one or more IDRFs, M-metastatic tumor and MS- metastatic tumor in children less than 18 months old, with metastases restricted to the skin, liver and/or bone [49].

The stratification of NB into low-, intermediate- and high-risk groups uses prognostic factors such as stage, age, *MYCN* amplification status, tumor differentiation, histologic category, and chromosomal and DNA alterations (Figure 1.2) [50]. Low-risk patients have about a 95% chance of survival. Low-risk tumors are either stage 1, 2, or 4S with non-amplified *MYCN* and are completely resectable. Intermediate-risk patients may have stage 2, 3 or 4 tumor with no *MYCN* amplification [50]. High-risk patients have a chance of survival of less than 50% with stage 2, 3 or 4 tumors and amplified *MYCN* [19,50,51]. The prognosis is poor for children diagnosed after age 1 as they present with wide-spread metastasis at the time of diagnosis [38].

Table 1.2. Image-Defined Risk Factors (IDRFs) in Neuroblastic Tumors

Ipsilateral tumor extension within two body compartments
Neck-chest, chest-abdomen, abdomen-pelvis.
Neck
Tumor encasing carotid and/ or internal jugular vein
Tumor extending to base of skull
Tumor compressing trachea
Cervico-thoracic junction
Tumor encasing brachial plexus roots
Tumor encasing subclavian vessels and/or vertebral and/or
carotid artery
Thorax
Tumor encasing the aorta and/or major branches
Tumor compressing the trachea and/or principal bronchi
Lower mediastinal tumor, infiltrating costo-vertebral junction
between T9 and T12
Thoraco-abdominal
Tumor encasing the aorta and/or vena cava
Abdomen/pelvis
Tumor infiltrating the of porta hepatis and/or hepatoduodenal
ligament
Tumor crossing the sciatic notch
Tumor invading renal pedicle
Intraspinal tumor extension provided that.
More than one third of the spinal canal is invaded and/or the
perimedullary leptomeningeal space is obliterated, or spinal
cord signal is abnormal
Infiltration of adjacent organs/structures
Pericardium, diaphragm, kidney, liver, duodeno-pancreatic
block, mesentery.
Encasement of major vessels by tumor
Vertebral artery, internal jugular vein, subclavian vessels, carotid
artery, aorta, vena cava, major thoracic vessels, branches of the
superior mesenteric artery at its root and the coeffac axis, filac
VC35C15

Adapted from Monclair, J. Clin. Oncol. (2009)[48]

Risk	MYCN amplification	Stage*	Age at diagnosis	Overall survival (%)	Current treatment approach	
Low risk	No	4S	<12 months	>91±2‡	Supportive care	
	No	Locoregional	≤21 years	>95‡	Surgery±chemotherapy§	
Intermediate risk	No	4	<18 months	$89 \pm 2^{\ddagger}$	Surgery and moderate intensity chemotherapy	
High risk	Yes	Locoregional	≤21 years	$53\pm4^{\ddagger}$	Dose-intensive chemotherapy,	
	Yes	4	<18 months	$29 \pm 4^{\ddagger}$	surgical resection of residual primary tumour, radiation to primary and resistant metastatic sites, myeloablative therapy with autologous stem cell rescue, anti-GD2	
	Yes or no	4	≥18 months and ≤21 years	31±1‡		
	No	4	≥12 years	<10	immunotherapy and 13-cis-retinoic acid	

*Stage 4 represents metastatic disease and stage 4S represents special pattern in infants with resectable primary tumor (See text). ⁺ Survival at 5 years was based on large international retrospective analysis before the era of immunotherapy. [§]Although most locoregional NBs are treated with surgery alone for low-risk disease, a small subset requires chemotherapy because of unfavorable biology.

Figure 1.2. Neuroblastoma Patient Survival based on Risk Groups: Stage, age at diagnosis and *MYCN* amplification status influences NB patient survival. Patients with low-risk disease have no amplification of *MYCN*, are diagnosed within their first year of life and have an overall survival of about 91%. However, patients with high-risk disease have less than 50% chance of survival, have amplified *MYCN* and are older than 1 year old when diagnosed. Treatment of high-risk disease includes intensive radiotherapy, chemotherapy and surgery. Adapted from Cheung, *Nature Reviews Cancer* (2013) [19]

Whether the tumor is low-, intermediate- or high-risk determines NB treatment approach. Treatment of low-risk patients involves surgical resection or observation. The overall 5-year survival for low-risk patients is about 95% [52]. Chemotherapy with or without surgical resection, observation and radiotherapy in difficult cases is the standard treatment for intermediate-risk patients [4]. Treatment of high-risk NB is aggressive and includes surgery and 5-6 cycles of induction chemotherapy, myeloablative therapy and stem cell transplantation, and post-consolidation immunotherapy and radiotherapy to treat residual disease (Figure 1.3) [51,53]. Despite these aggressive treatments the survival of high-risk NB patients remains below 50% [23,51]. Hence, the importance of understanding the molecular factors that drive this debilitating disease.



Figure 1.3. Current High-Risk Neuroblastoma Standard-of-Care Treatment Approach:

Treatment of high-risk NB disease is divided into three phases of therapy: Induction, Consolidation and Post-Consolidation. The induction phase includes high doses of chemotherapeutic agents as well as surgery. During the consolidation phase high-dose chemotherapy along with stem-cell transplantation and external-beam radiotherapy [XRT]) is administered. The post-consolidation phase focuses on treatment of residual disease as half of all patients relapse after clinical remission. The post-consolidation regimen involves antiganglioside 2 (GD2) immunotherapy, cis-retinoic acid and cytokines. ch, chimeric; CHO, Chinese hamster ovary; GM-CSF, granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor; IL-2, interleukin-2; IV, intravenous; mAB, monoclonal antibody; Adapted from Pinto, *J. Clin. Oncol.* (2015) [51]

1.2. Scavenger Receptor Class B Type I

1.2.1. Structure and Function

The scavenger receptor class B type 1 (SR-B1) is a 509-amino acid, ~ 82kDa plasma membrane glycoprotein protein that contains a large 5-6 cysteine residues extracellular domain, two transmembrane domains and N- and C-terminal cytoplasmic domains (Figure 2.1) [54,55]. Multiple sites of N-linked glycosylation accounts for the difference in amino acid predicted mass (~57kDa) and observed mass of ~82kDa from immunochemical analysis of SR-B1 [56]. The four terminal residues (EAKL) on the C-terminal cytoplasmic domains associate with the PDZK1 adaptor protein that is essential for SR-B1 stability and signaling [57-59]. SR-B1 is the murine high-density lipoprotein receptor [56] to the human homolog CD36-and-LIMPII analogous-1 (CLA-1) [54].





SR-B1 is recognized as the high-density lipoprotein (HDL) receptor as it facilitates the uptake of cholesteryl ester (CE) from HDL [54,56,60,61]. However, SR-B1 also has the ability to bind to a variety of other ligands such as low-density lipoprotein (LDL), acetylated LDL, oxidized LDL and very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) [54]. The receptor-mediated uptake of CE from HDL drives reverse cholesterol transport (RCT) where excess cholesterol from peripheral tissues are returned to the liver, and is either used to synthesize steroid hormones or is excreted via the bile duct [62]. This removal of excess cholesterol is an important protective mechanism against the development of atherosclerosis [63-65].

Moreover, SR-B1 influences the cholesterol content of the plasma membrane and regulates the bidirectional flow of lipids between the cell and HDL [66,67]. Knockout of SR-B1 in female mice resulted in abnormal HDLs, dysfunctional oocyte and infertility [68], while treatment of dendritic cells with anti-SR-B1 antibodies inhibited the uptake of the hepatitis C virus [69]. SR-B1 also induced phagocytosis of apoptotic cells via a signaling pathway involving mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) [70]. Additionally, SR-B1 is found to be concentrated in cholesterol-rich micro-domains of the plasma membrane called caveolae [54,59] and SR-B1 expression is prominent in steroidogenic tissues as well as tissues with important roles in cholesterol metabolism such as adrenal, ovary, testes and liver tissues [56,60,71]. SR-B1 is also implicated in the pathogenesis chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) [72] and binding of HDL to SR-B1 triggers several signaling (Akt, MAPK) pathways through recruitment of the non- receptor tyrosine kinase src [58,73,74].

1.2.2. Mechanism of Action

Unlike LDL cholesterol transport, that results in endocytosis of LDL and the LDL receptor (LDLR) [54], the selective uptake of cholesteryl ester (CE) from HDL occurs in a twostep process: 1) binding of the CE- rich HDL to SR-B1 and 2) transfer of the lipid into the plasma membrane without the internalization of the HDL molecule (Figure 1.5.) [54,55]. Binding occurs through direct protein-protein interaction between the amphipathic helix of HDL apolipoprotein A-I (apoA-I) and the extracellular domain of SR-BI [75,76]. The CE then passively diffuses from HDL into the plasma membrane down its concentration gradient [75]. The binding of HDL to SR-B1 provides the best alignment to ensure efficient transfer of lipid, since the conformation of the wild-type apoA-I regulates the binding to SR-B1 receptor but does not alter the effectiveness of the lipid transfer [77]. The efflux of free cholesterol to HDL is influenced both by the binding of HDL to SR-B1 and the capability of the receptor to disturb the arrangement of the free cholesterol molecules in the cell membrane [77].

1.2.3. SR-B1 and Cancer

As the key receptor responsible for the selective uptake of CE from HDL, the investigation of the role of SR-B1 in cancer development has received increasing attention [78,79]. Generally, high expression of SR-B1 is present on tissues such as the liver, which regulates cholesterol levels in the body and steroidogenic tissues such as the gonads, and adrenal glands, which require cholesterol as a precursor for steroid hormone synthesis [55]. However, cancer cells exhibit high proliferative rates and thus require an ample supply for cholesterol for membrane biosynthesis [80]. One of the ways cells obtain cholesterol is via SR-B1 and HDL [81]. Thus, an abundant expression of SR-B1 has been observed on breast, lung, ovarian and

prostate cancer tissues [71,82-86]. Moreover, nasopharyngeal carcinoma (NPC), melanoma and clear cell renal cell carcinoma (ccRCC) also exhibited enhanced SR-B1 expression [85,87,88].



Figure 1.5. Receptor-mediated Lipoprotein Cholesterol Transfer: A) Low-density lipoprotein (LDL) receptors synthesized in the rough endoplasmic reticulum (RER) are transported via the Golgi apparatus to coated pits on the cell surface. Apolipoprotein B (apoB) on LDL binds to the LDL receptor. The LDL-receptor complex is endocytosed into vesicles, which is then converted to low pH endosomes and induces LDL receptor dissociation and recycling back to the cell surface. Hydrolytic enzymes degrade LDL releasing its cholesterol to the cell. **B)** Apolipoprotein A-I (apoA-I) on high-density lipoprotein (HDL) binds to SR-B1 with high affinity which mediates the selective uptake of its cholesteryl ester (CE). Lysosomal degradation of the lipoprotein molecule is not involved in selective uptake; rather, the lipiddepleted ("Chol.-poor") HDL particle is liberated from the cells. Chol. - Cholesterol. Adapted from Krieger, *Annu Rev Biochem*. (1999)[54] In breast cancer, SR-B1 was linked to increased intra-tumor CE accumulation and breast cancer aggressiveness [89]. Additionally, high SR-B1 expression correlated with reduced progression-free survival in ccRCC and can potentially serve as a diagnostic and independent prognostic marker in ccRCC [85]. SR-B1 was identified as a potential biomarker of NPC with 75% of patient biopsies and all NPC cell lines tested overexpressing SR-B1 [88]. Furthermore, SR-B1 has been shown to be associated with prostate cancer progression and creation of a castration-resistant phenotype [83]. In a breast cancer study, knockdown of SR-B1 reduced cell proliferation and migration and diminished HDL-promoted activation of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/protein kinase B (Akt) pathway reducing tumor growth [82]. Danilo et al. also showed that SR-B1 inhibition with a pharmacological agent lowered cell signaling and proliferation in breast cancer [82]. Similarly, Cao et al. showed that a mutant HDL receptor inhibited breast cancer cell proliferation [90]. Finally, SR-B1 knockdown reduced secretion of the prostate specific antigen PSA [84]. Taken together these studies confirm SR-B1's role in cancer progression.

1.3. Cholesterol

1.3.1. Cholesterol Metabolism

Cholesterol is an extremely important biological molecule [81]. It is the major component of the cell membrane and is the precursor for the synthesis of essential vitamins, steroids and bile acids. Cells fulfill their need for cholesterol by either synthesizing cholesterol or taking up cholesterol from lipoproteins. Lipoproteins, as the name suggests, are lipid and cholesterol carrier molecules. Low-density lipoproteins (LDL) and high-density lipoproteins (HDL) are the major transporters of lipids to the cell [91]. A critical balance in cholesterol level is important,

as too high a level of cholesterol is toxic to cells. When the level of cholesterol is elevated, the rate-limiting enzyme, 3-hydroxy-3-methyl-glutaryl-coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase, is down-regulated/degraded reducing cholesterol synthesis, exogenous lipid uptake is halted, and extra cholesterol is converted to cholesteryl esters (CE) by the enzyme acyl-coenzyme A: cholesterol acyl transferase (ACAT) [92,93]. The resulting cholesteryl esters are stored in cytoplasmic lipid droplets. High levels of CEs are present in steroidogenic tissues, such as the adrenal gland and the gonads, which require a reservoir of cholesterol as a precursor for the synthesis of steroid hormones [94].

1.3.2. Cholesterol and Cancer

Lipid metabolism plays a significant role in cancer biology as cancer cells alter their metabolism to support their growth rate [95-99]. Lipids such as cholesterol and phospholipids are essential components of the cell membrane and high rates of proliferation exhibited by tumor cells demands a substantial quantity of lipids to ensure an available pool of cholesterol for membrane biosynthesis [96,98,100]. Recently, dysregulated lipid metabolism has emerged as a common feature of many human cancers [82,89,101-103].

There is increasing evidence that supports HDL as a source of cholesterol during tumor development [78,82]. Epidemiologic studies identify low levels of HDL and HDL-cholesterol in cancer patients and suggest HDL levels as markers of cancer risk and development [95,104,105]. A frequent observation in cancer patients are altered cholesterol levels both in the plasma and tumor tissues [106-108]. Analysis of lung cancer tissue revealed a 2-fold and 3.5-fold increase in total cholesterol and cholesteryl ester content, respectively, when compared to normal lung tissue. Also, lung cancer patients' serum HDL levels were strikingly reduced [106]. A review of

serum lipid and lipoprotein levels in a group of pediatric cancers revealed that HDL- cholesterol levels increased during clinical remission after therapy suggesting that HDL levels are potentially linked to tumor growth [109]. Associations between serum lipid and lipoproteins and cancers such as breast [108], prostate [103], and gynecologic cancers [104] have been identified and the altered HDL levels were independent of cardiovascular and inflammatory disease [96].

Furthermore, activation of the cholesterol synthesis pathway due mainly to increased expression of sterol regulatory element binding factors was observed in human high-risk NB via transcriptional profiling. Reduction of cell survival after treatment with statins suggests that this metabolic program is essential for the growth and tumorigenicity of high-risk NB cells [110]. The genes involved in cholesterol synthesis pathways were also activated in high-risk NB [110]. Hence it's plausible to suppose that there may be a link between regulation of tumor cell growth and cholesterol metabolism [111,112].

1.3.3. Cholesterol Metabolism and SR-B1

SR-B1 plays an important role in the regulation of the bidirectional flow of cholesterol between the cell and HDL and thus has an impact on cholesterol metabolism. For example SR-B1 overexpression increased intratumor cholesterol accumulation [89] and HDL- CE delivered to the cell via SR-B1 was efficiently and rapidly hydrolyzed in comparison to uptake via CD36 scavenger receptor [113]. Additionally, in African green monkey kidney COS-7 cells, transfection with SR-B1 increased esterification of free cholesterol from HDL suggesting that the observed increase in cholesterol esterification observed was due to an increased pool of free cholesterol and that SR-B1 did not specifically promote cholesterol esterification [114]. The expression of SR-B1 in this model leads to reallocation of cholesterol to parts of the cell

membrane, which then promotes the flux of free cholesterol between the cells and lipoproteins [114].

1.3.4. Acyl-coenzyme A: Cholesterol Acyltransferase

Cholesterol acquired from both de novo synthesis as well as exogenous uptake from lipoproteins move within the cells to the ER where it is converted to cholesteryl esters (CE) by the enzyme acyl-coenzyme A: cholesterol acyltransferase (ACAT) [115,116]. ACAT exists as two isoenzymes in mammals, ACAT1 and ACAT2 each encoded by a different gene [116]. These endoplasmic reticulum (ER) membrane bound enzymes convert excess cholesterol to CE utilizing long chain fatty acyl-CoA [115]. ACAT1 is more prevalent and is found in many different tissues and cell types while ACAT2 is less common and is found in the small intestine and liver [117,118].

The ACAT enzymes produce CE, which are stored in lipid droplets in the cytoplasm. Though the level of CE is low in many cell types, steroidogenic tissues such as the adrenal gland and ovary have higher levels of CE as repository of cholesterol for steroid hormone production [93]. CE is also present in the plasma, in hepatic very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) and chylomicrons of the intestine. In atherosclerosis, accumulation of CE produces foamy macrophage cells that narrow arteries signaling the initial stages of this disease [119]. Given its role in atherosclerosis and other diseases, ACAT was identified as a drug target.

Most ACAT inhibitors are analogs of the long chain fatty acyl CoA and their hydrophobicity allows them to enter the lipid bilayer and get in contact with residues that are critical for ACAT enzymatic activity [93]. Avasimibe (CI-1011) is an orally administered selective ACAT inhibitor developed by Pfizer for prospective treatment of atherosclerosis and other diseases [120]. In *in vitro* studies avasimibe showed a good safety profile and reduced cellular CE content without increasing intracellular free cholesterol [121]. However, avasimibe Phase III clinical trials were ended for unspecified reasons.

As mentioned above, ACAT inhibitors were identified as potentially useful in treating atherosclerosis and Alzheimer's disease [122,123]. In atherosclerosis, avasimibe was able to reduce the CE content of foam cells and cause plaque regression in animal models [93]. However, in human clinical trials, avasimibe failed to reduce the progression of atherosclerosis and CE rich macrophage foam cells [123]. Moreover, in Alzheimer's disease ACAT inhibition was shown to shrink extracellular amyloid $-\beta$ (A- β) protein aggregate plaques, though the exact mechanism is still unclear [93,122].

In cancer, high expression of ACAT was observed which paved the way for the potential use of ACAT inhibitors as treatment for cancer [124]. Inhibition of cholesterol esterification with avasimibe significantly restricted the proliferation of chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML) cells. Additionally, combination of avasimibe and the tyrosine kinase inhibitor, imatimib resulted in significant synergistic inhibition of CML cell proliferation [101]. In pancreatic cancer, high levels of ACAT1 correlated with poor survival and pharmacological inhibition or knockdown of ACAT reduced cell growth and metastasis in an orthotropic mouse model [125]. Similarly, avasimibe reduced growth in breast and prostate cancer and glioblastoma cells [103,124,126,127].

1.4. Significance and Hypothesis

1.4.1. Significance

SR-B1 regulates bidirectional movement of cholesterol between the cell and HDL and has been linked to progression of many cancers. Since many cancer cells alter their cholesterol metabolism to ensure an ample supply of lipids for membrane biogenesis and cholesterol synthesis pathway genes are activated in high-risk NB, elucidation of the role of SR-B1 in NB cholesterol metabolism will enhance scientific knowledge and impact therapeutic approaches.

The regulation of the size of the cholesterol pool is essential, as too much cholesterol is toxic to the cells. As a result, the ACAT enzyme converts excess cholesterol into cholesteryl ester (CE) that is stored in cytoplasmic lipid droplets. In some cancers, ACAT expression is increased and the use of ACAT inhibitors suppressed tumor cell proliferation. Analysis of ACAT activity and ACAT inhibition in high-risk NB will impact the potential use of ACAT inhibitors as treatment for high-risk NB. Furthermore identification of SR-B1 as a potential prognostic indicator of NB patient survival may significantly improve risk stratification and therapeutic approaches.

The enigmatic nature of NB continues to be a challenge for clinicians and researchers. The clinical behavior of NB ranges from spontaneous regression to relentless progression even with intensive multimodal therapy. Over the decades, understanding of the biology of NB through identification of molecular and genetic factors that drive NB has resulted in more effective therapies and improved patients outcomes. However, survival has remained poor for high-risk NB patients. Consequently, there is a critical need for the discovery of other factors that promote NB development, to enhance the patients' quality of life and length of survival. Here the HDL receptor, SR-B1, is identified in NB as a pivotal regulator of tumor aggressiveness.

This knowledge potentially implicates HDL as a source of cholesterol in NB progression and will aid in the discovery of novel targets and therapeutic approaches for high-risk NB treatment.

1.4.2. Hypothesis

SR-B1 is overexpressed in high-risk NB and drives its progression.

The specific aims to test this hypothesis are:

Specific Aim 1

To investigate the association of SR-B1 protein expression with NB aggressiveness

Here the expression of SR-B1 was identified in NB cells. Additionally, anti-SR-B1 antibody was used to inhibit SR-B1 and changes in cell proliferation, migration and invasion were investigated. Inhibition of SR-B1 reduced cell survival, migration and invasion.

Specific Aim 2

To determine the association between SR-B1 expression and cholesterol metabolism in NB

The effect of SR-B1 expression and inhibition on cholesterol metabolism was studied. Furthermore, ACAT activity and the effect of delipidated serum on SR-B1 expression, cell survival and cholesterol metabolism were determined. Moreover, HDL addition rescued cell survival.
CHAPTER 2

MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1. Cell Culture

SH-SY-5Y and normal human astrocytes cell lines were purchased from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC) (Manassas, VA). SMS-KCN, SMS-KCNR and SK-N-BE (2) cell lines were obtained from the Children's Oncology Group (Lubbock, TX). The normal human astrocytes cell line was maintained in DMEM medium containing 10% FBS and100 U/mL Penicillin-Streptomycin. NB cells were cultured in RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 2 mM L-Glutamine, 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 100 U/mL Penicillin-Streptomycin at 37 °C in 5% CO₂. Confluent flasks were subcultured twice weekly and seeded at a ratio of 1:5.

2.2. Materials

Western blot antibodies for SR-B1 and beta actin were purchased from Abcam (Cambridge, MA). Anti-rabbit secondary antibody was purchased from Cell Signaling Technology, Inc. (Beverly, MA). Rabbit IgG control antibody was purchased from Vector Laboratories, Inc. (Burlingame, CA). The inhibitory anti-SR-B1 antibody was custom produced by Rockland Immunochemicals Inc. (Limerick, PA) using the following peptide sequence CRPGNSGPKGQKGEKGSGN, residues 325-342 from the extracellular domain of the SR-B1 receptor [128]. This antibody was sterilized with 0.45µM Polyvinylidene Fluoride (PVDF) filter and protein concentration was determined by the bicinchoninic acid (BCA assay) [129]. Anti-

23

SR-B1 antibody stock concentration is 3.56 mg/mL. The anti-SR-B1 antibody acts as an inhibitor by obstructing the interaction between high density lipoprotein (HDL) and the SR-B1 receptor [130].

2.3. Western Blot Analysis

Cells were lysed in radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) lysis buffer. Next, the protein concentration of the supernatants were determined using the BCA assay [129] and 20µg protein from each sample was resolved by electrophoresis in SDS acrylamide gel. After electrophoresis, the gels were transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane using the iBlot[™] Gel Transfer Device (Thermo Fisher Scientific; Waltham, MA). The membrane was then probed with respective primary antibodies at 1:1000 dilution and conjugated secondary antibodies using the iBind Western System (Thermo Fisher Scientific; Waltham, MA). After this, the immunocomplexes were detected using SuperSignal[™] West Femto Maximum Sensitivity chemiluminescent substrate (Thermo Fisher Scientific; Waltham, MA). To quantitate protein bands ImageJ software was used [131]. Results were reported as ratio of SR-B1 to actin.

2.4. Cell Proliferation Assay

Cells were plated at a density of 5 x 10^4 cells /mL in RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 2 mM L-Glutamine, 10% FBS and 100 U/mL Penicillin-Streptomycin (complete media) in 96 well plates. At each time point, 10µL of a water-soluble tetrazolium salt solution from the Cell Counting Kit -8 (CCK-8) (Dojindo Molecular Technologies, Inc.; Rockville, MD) was added to respective wells and incubated for four hours at 37 °C in 5% CO₂. In live cells, NADH reduced this solution and produced an orange-color formazan dye. The amount of the formazan dye formed is directly proportional to the number of live cells. Absorbance was then measured at 450nm using a microplate spectrophotometer (PowerWave; Biotek Instruments Inc.).

2.5. Migration and Invasion Assay

In 60mm dishes, 5×10^5 cells were plated and allowed to attach overnight. The next day fresh media containing various concentrations of inhibitory anti-SR-B1 antibody in complete media were added to cells and incubated for 72 hours. After treatment, cells were serum starved overnight in IMDM media. The following day cells were harvested, counted and 5×10^4 cells were added to the upper chamber of a 24-well 8µm non-coated (migration) or BioCoat Matrigel (invasion) transwell chamber (Corning Inc., Tewksbury, MA) in IMDM + 1% insulintransferrin- selenium (ITS). The bottom wells contained IMDM + 10% FBS + 1% ITS as chemoattractant. Cells were incubated overnight at 37° C in 5% CO₂. Then cotton swabs were used to remove the non-migrating or non-invading cells from the inside of the chambers. The membranes were fixed with 70% ethanol and then stained with 0.2 % crystal violet. Light microscopy was used to enumerate the number of stained cells in five random fields of each insert at 10X magnification. Migration and invasion percentage was calculated using the formulas below:



2.6. Apoptosis Assay

Cells were plated at $0.1 \ge 10^6$ cells/mL in 100mm dishes and allowed to attach overnight. Then various concentrations of inhibitory anti-SR-B1 antibody in complete media were added to cells and incubated for 72 hours. After treatment, media containing potential apoptotic cells were collected along with trypsinized cells. Harvested cells were counted and washed twice in 1X PBS. 1 $\ge 10^6$ cells were resuspended in an Annexin V-FITC and propidium iodide solution and incubated in the dark at room temperature for 15 minutes [132]. Stained cells were immediately analyzed using Cellometer K2 (Nexcelom Bioscience, Lawrence MA) a fluorescence detection and image-based cell counting device [132]. Scatterplot of the results were generated using the FCS Express 6 (De Novo Software) (Glendale, CA). For each treatment group percent apoptotic cells are presented \pm standard deviation (SD).

2.7. Nile Red Assay

 2×10^5 NB cells were cultured in 35 mm glass-bottomed dishes and then fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA). Cells were washed in PBS and then stained with 300 nM Nile red (9diethylamino-5H-benzo [α] phenoxazine-5-one). Nile red is a fluorescent dye that differentially stains polar lipids (phospholipids) and neutral lipids (cholesterol esters (CEs) and triglycerides). Polar lipids display a red emission while neutral lipids display yellow. The red emission was observed at 540nm excitation while the yellow emission was observed at 460 nm excitation. Images were captured at 40X magnification. Corrected total cell fluorescence was calculated using ImageJ.

2.8. Cholesterol Esterification

A complex of ¹⁴C-oleate and bovine serum albumin (BSA) was prepared by mixing 0.7mg of potassium hydroxide (KOH) with 100 μ L of 1.85 MBq of ¹⁴C-oleic acid and the ethanol evaporated. A solution of 0.75 mL PBS (without Ca ²⁺ and Mg⁺) and 2.12 mg fatty acid-free BSA was added and mixed by vortexing. 2 μ Ci/mL of this solution was added to cells and incubated for 4 hours. After incubation cells were trypsinized and collected. Lipids were extracted with cold acetone and neutral lipids separated by thin layer chromatography. Incorporation of ¹⁴C-oleate into cholesteryl esters was measured via a beta counter [133]. Protein was determined using the BCA assay.

2.9. Cholesterol Assay

Hexane: isopropanol (v/v 3:2) solution was added to 1 x 10^6 cells. The samples were sonicated, then centrifuged and protein content of the pellet was determined via BCA assay. The cholesterol extracted was dried under nitrogen and redissolved in a small volume of isopropanol. The Cholesterol E and Free Cholesterol E from Wako Chemicals USA, Inc. (Richmond, VA, USA) was used to determined cholesterol content. 2μ L of sample was placed into wells of 96welled plate and 200μ L of the respective buffers were added to the wells. The plate was incubated at 37° C for 5 minutes. Absorbance was then measured at 595nm using a microplate spectrophotometer (PowerWave; Biotek Instruments Inc.).

2.10. Patient Survival Probability

The Tumor Neuroblastoma-Kocak-649- custom-ag44kcwolf data set [37] (GEO accession number GSE45547) was used to create overall and event-free Kaplan-Meier survival

curves on the R2: Genomics Analysis and Visualization Platform (Amsterdam, the Netherlands) [129]. The data set consisted of gene expression profiles for 649 NB patient tumor samples. The cut-off modus "scan" in R2 was used to identify the threshold that best separated low and high SR-B1 gene expression. In the order of expression, the Kaplan scanner used every increasing expression value as a cutoff to generate two groups and tested the p-value in a log-rank test, identifying the most significant expression cutoff for analysis of survival. Survival data was not available for 173 of the samples and were omitted from analysis.

2.11. Statistical Analyses

All statistical tests were performed using GraphPad Prism7 and data is expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) for experiments in duplicates. Significance of treatments was determined using Student's t-test or one-way Anova, post hoc test (Turkey). p < 0.05 was considered statistical significant.

CHAPTER 3

RESULTS

3.1. Association of SR-B1 protein expression with NB aggressiveness

High expression of the scavenger receptor class B type 1 (SR-B1) has been observed in cancers of the breast, prostate, ovary and skin [71,82,83,86,87]. In the above-mentioned cancers, the high expression of SR-B1 is often correlated with cell aggressiveness, poor patient outcome and cellular cholesterol regulation [82,83,87,89]. In this section, we determined the association of SR-B1expression with cell growth rate and migration and the effect of SR-B1 inhibition on cell survival and apoptosis in neuroblastoma (NB).

3.1.1 SR-B1 is expressed on NB cells

The protein expressions in a panel of NB cell lines were examined using Western blot analysis. Table 3.1 shows the characteristics of the patients and tissue that gave rise to the NB cell lines. SR-B1 was expressed at different levels in NB cell lines tested but was barely expressed in normal human astrocytes (Figure 3.1). Three cell lines with varying levels of SR-B1 expression (Figure 3.1) were selected. Specifically SMS-KCN and SMS-KCNR which were obtained from an 11-month old boy before and after chemotherapy [134] and SH-SY-5Y a thrice subclone of SK-N-SH obtained from a 2 year old girl post therapy [135].

Cell Lines	SMS-KCN	SMS- KCNR	SH-SY-5Y	SK-N-BE (2)	BE(2)C
Gender	Male	Male	Female	Male	Male
Stage	4	4		4	4
Age at diagnosis (months)	11	11	48	24	24
Phase of Therapy	Diagnosis	Progressive Disease	Progressive Disease	Progressive Disease	Progressive Disease
MYCN Status	Amplified	Amplified	Non- Amplified	Amplified	Amplified
Primary Tumor Site	Adrenal gland	Adrenal gland	Upper Chest	Brain	Brain
Source of Culture	Primary tumor	Bone Marrow	Bone Marrow	Bone Marrow	Bone Marrow
Karyotype	del(1)(p34), t(17;20)(q21or 22;q13)	del(1)(p34), t(17;20)(q21or 22;q13), t(6;?)(q21or22 ;?)	$\begin{array}{c} 47,XX,der(1)(1pt\\ er \rightarrow; 1q25::1q25\\ \rightarrow 1q11::1q44 \rightarrow \\ 1q25::1q25 \rightarrow \\ 1qter),+7,der(9)(\\ 9pter \rightarrow \\ 9q34::7q22 \rightarrow \\ 7qter),der(22)(2\\ 2pter \rightarrow \\ 22q13::17q21 \rightarrow \\ 17qter) \end{array}$	t(1;2)(p22;p21),t(3;17)(p21;q 21), Monosomy (17,18), variable rearrangement s involving (4,6,9,10,11,a nd/or 20)	
Doubling Time (Hours)	109	72	27	30	18
References	[134,136]	[134,137]	[135,138,139]	[28,137,140,1 41]	[142-144]

Table 3.1. Characteristics of Neuroblastoma Cell Lines

Diagnosis: cells lines derived from samples of patients before treatment Progressive Disease: cell lines derived from patients who relapsed after chemotherapy



Figure 3.1. SR-B1 expression in NB cells and normal human astrocytes: A) Representative Western blot image. B) Quantitation of SR-B1 expression. SR-B1 was expressed at varying levels in NB cells. SMS-KCN was designated low SR-B1 expresser, SMS-KCNR -moderate SR-B1 expresser and SH-SY-5Y high SR-B1 expresser. Astrocytes were used as a representative normal non-malignant cell and its SR-B1 expression was negligible. Results shown are representative of three independent experiments.

3.1.2. Association of SR-B1 expression with cell proliferation and migration

SR-B1's ability to regulate cell cholesterol has been suggested as the link between SR-B1, HDL and cell proliferation [66,112]. Comparison of the three cell lines showed no significant difference in proliferation during the first 24 hours. However, after 24 hours SH-SY-5Y cells were growing at a faster rate than both SMS-KCN, SMS-KCNR. SH-SY-5Y had the highest level of SR-B1 expression and showed a more elevated growth curve than both SMS-KCN and SMS-KCNR (Figure 3.2). A search of the literature showed doubling times of 109, 72 and 27 hours for SMS-KCN, SMS-KCN, SH-SY-5Y, respectively [136,137,139,144] which were comparable to our observed growth rate for these cells. This finding suggested that there is likely an association between SR-B1 expression and cell growth rate.

More than half of high-risk NB patients present with extensive metastases at the time of diagnosis [38,145]. Given that migration is one of the initial stages of metastases, the migration of NB cells with different levels of SR-B1 protein expression was examined. The high SR-B1 expresser (SH-SY-5Y) showed markedly higher migration rates than the lower SR-B1expressing cell lines suggesting an association between SR-B1 expression and migration (Figure 3.3)



Figure 3.2. Cell proliferation curve NB cells: Cells were seeded at a density of 0.5×10^5 cells/mL. At indicated times cells were incubated with Cell- Counting Kit-8 (CCK-8) solution for 4 hours and absorbance of the orange formazan produced was measured at 450 nm. Linear regression analysis of the curve was performed and the slopes of the proliferation curves were compared ±SE. SMS-KCN- slope of 0.0017 ± 0.0001 ; SMS-KCNR- slope of 0.009 ± 0.001 ; SH-SY-5Y- slope of 0.014 ± 0.001 ; High SR-B1 expressing cell line (SH-SY-5Y) showed higher proliferation than other cell lines. The proliferation rate of these cell lines was comparable to doubling times reported in Table 3.1. Results shown are representative of two independent experiments done in quadruplets.



Α



Figure 3.3. Migration of NB cells: Cells were seeded at 1×10^5 cells/mL and grown in RPMI containing 10% FBS for 72 hours. Next, cells were serum starved for 24 hours then 50,000 cells were added to the upper well of the migration chamber. Cells were allowed to migrate overnight. The next day the cells were stained with crystal violet and counted. A) Representative images of migrated cells (purple spots) at 10X magnification. B) Comparison of cell migration: The high SR-B1 expressing cell line (SH-SY-5Y) showed significantly greater migration than the low (SMS-KCN) and moderate (SMS-KCNR) SR-B1 expressing cell lines. Similarly migration of SMS-KCNR was greater than SMS-KCN; n=3, ***p=0.0001

3.1.3. Effect SR-B1 inhibition on cell survival, migration and invasion

To demonstrate a direct relationship between SR-B1 expression and cell aggressiveness, the effect of SR-B1 inhibition on cell survival, migration and invasion was investigated. Thus far, this study has shown that high SR-B1 expression is correlated with enhanced cell proliferation and migration. Anti-SR-B1 antibody raised against the extracellular portion of the SR-B1 receptor was used to inhibit SR-B1. The anti-SR-B1 antibody works as an inhibitor by blocking the interaction between high-density lipoprotein (HDL) and SR-B1 [56,130]. The protein concentration of the stock anti-SR-B1 antibody was 3.56 mg/mL and dilutions of 1:100 and 1:10 of antibody were used in experiments. As shown in figure 3.4, inhibition of SR-B1 reduced cell survival in the three cell lines. The morphology of the cells changed from elongated into a circular shape after SR-B1 inhibition (Figure 3.4A). The 1:10 SR-B1 antibody concentration showed the most significant reduction in survival in SH-SY-5Y cells. SMS-KCNR showed \sim 30% survival with 1:10 SR-B1 antibody concentration while SMS-KCN showed 60% cell survival under the same conditions (Figure 3.4B). To exclude the toxicity of the antibody solution as a possible cause for reduced survival and further observations, the cells were incubated as described above in IgG control antibody at the same protein concentration of the 1:10 SR-B1 antibody (0.356 mg/mL). Figure 3C shows that the IgG control antibody did not reduce the survival of the NB cells proving that the antibody solution was not toxic to the cells. Likewise, inhibition of SR-B1 also significantly reduced cell migration and invasion, which was more pronounced in the 1:10 SR-B1 antibody treatment (Figure 3.5). Taken together this suggests that SR-B1 is a regulator of cell survival, migration and invasion.

35







Figure 3.4. SR-B1 reduces NB cell survival: Cells were incubated in medium containing 10% FBS and indicated treatments for 72 hours. At the end of treatment, cells were incubated with Cell- Counting Kit-8 (CCK-8) solution for 4 hours and absorbance of the orange formazan product was measured at 450 nm. A) Representative light microscopy images of cells after treatment, 10X magnification. B) Cell survival bar graph: Significant reduction in cell survival of all cell lines tested after SR-B1 inhibition. The high SR-B1 expressing cell line was most responsive with only ~1% survival at 1:10 anti-SR-B1 antibody treatment. C) Cell survival bar graphs: IgG antibody protein concentration was matched to the 1:10 anti-SR-B1 antibody dilution (0.356 mg/mL). No significant differences in IgG antibody and control were identified showing that the antibody solution was not toxic. Control indicates RPMI media supplemented with 10% FBS; n=4, *p= 0.03, **p= 0.002****p<0.0001, ns -non-significant.



Α



Figure 3.5. SR-B1 inhibition reduces cell migration and invasion: SH-SY-5Y cells were seeded at 1×10^5 cells/mL and grown in RPMI containing 10% FBS in the presence or absence of various concentrations of the anti-SR-B1 antibody for 72 hours. Next, cells were serum starved for 24 hours then 50,000 cells were added to the upper well of the migration or invasion chamber. Cells were allowed to migrate overnight. The cells were stained with crystal violet and counted. A) Representative images of migrated cells (purple spots) at 10X magnification. B) Quantitation of migrated and invaded SH-SY-5Y cells treated as indicated. SH-SY-5Y cell line was selected based on its high expression of SR-B1 and its elevated response to SR-B1 inhibition. Control indicates RPMI media supplemented with 10% FBS; n=3, **p=0.002, ****p<0.0001

3.1.4. SR-B1 inhibition induces apoptosis in NB cells

One of the many ways tumor cells facilitate their continued development is through evasion of programmed cell death, apoptosis [80]. Here, the effect of SR-B1 inhibition on apoptosis in NB cells was investigated. Given the robust response of the SH-SY-5Y to 1:10 SR-B1 treatment, this high SR-B1 expressing cell line was used for subsequent experiments. Cells were incubated with the different treatments for 72 hours. Then the cells were harvested and stained using Annexin V -FITC and propidium iodide (PI). Annexin binds to phosphatidylserine (PS), which translocates from the internal to the external leaflet of the plasma membrane during early apoptosis. PI is a membrane exclusion dye that only binds to the DNA of cells with compromised membranes. Figure 3.6 A-C presents scatterplots of the results. The bottom left quadrant contains live cells with intact membranes; the bottom right contains apoptotic cells with partially weaken cell membranes and is stained mostly by Annexin V –FITC; the upper right quadrant contains necrotic cells with extremely weaken membranes which are stained by both Annexin V –FITC and PI; the upper left quadrant of the scatterplot represents debris, which are cells whose membrane are almost completely destroyed and thus is stained by PI only. The stained cells were analyzed using image cytometry [132]. The results indicate a significant increase in the percent of apoptotic cells after treatment with 1:10 SR-B1 antibody (Figure 3.6). This further confirms the hypothesis that the SR-B1 receptor is critical to NB cells.







Figure 3.6. SR-B1 inhibition induces apoptosis: Cells were plated at $0.1 \ge 10^6$ cells/mL in 100mm dishes and allowed to attach overnight. Then various concentrations of inhibitory anti-SR-B1 antibody in complete media were added to cells and incubated for 72 hours. After treatment with $1 \ge 10^6$ cells were harvested then resuspended in Annexin V-FITC and propidium iodide solution and incubated for 15 minutes at room temperature in the dark. Stained cells were immediately analyzed using Cellometer K2, a fluorescence detection and image-based cell counting device. Scatterplot of the results were generated using the FCS Express 6 (De Novo Software). A), B) and C) Representative scatterplots of Annexin –FITC and PI stained SH-SY-5Ycells after SR-B1 antibody treatment; D) Quantitation of apoptotic cells represented as a bar graph; Control indicates RPMI supplemented with 10% FBS. Results shown are representative of two independent experiments done in triplicate; ****p<0.0001

3.2. SR-B1 regulates cholesterol metabolism in NB

Neoplastic transformations are often accompanied by altered lipid metabolism and changes in plasma lipoproteins concentration [96,146]. The high-density lipoprotein (HDL) receptor, scavenger receptor class B type 1 (SR-B1) is implicated in the observed lipid reprogramming in cancerous tissues [78]. By regulating the selective uptake of cholesteryl ester (CE), SR-B1 is able to control cell cholesterol content [82]. In the previous section, high expression of SR-B1 was identified on high-risk neuroblastoma (NB) cells. Given the link between SR-B1, cholesterol and cancer, the influence of SR-B1 on cholesterol metabolism in NB was studied further.

3.2.1. Intracellular lipid droplets are present in NB cells

The accumulation of cytoplasmic lipid droplets occurs in many diseases including cancer [146]. To identify the presence of cytoplasmic lipid droplets in high-risk NB cells, the selective fluorescent stain Nile red was used [147]. The Nile red dye differentially stains neutral lipids such as cholesteryl esters and triglycerides and polar lipids such as phospholipids. Neutral lipids appear yellow while polar lipids appear red. As shown in figure 3.7, intracellular lipid droplets are present in high-risk NB cells.

43



SMS-KCNR

SH-SY-5Y



Figure 3.7. Intracellular lipid accumulation in NB: Cells were incubated overnight in complete media then stained with Nile red. Nile red is a fluorescent dye that differentially stains polar lipids (phospholipids) and neutral lipids (cholesterol esters and triglycerides). Polar lipids appear red while neutral lipids appear yellow. Images were captured at 40X magnification. Corrected total cell fluorescence was calculated using ImageJ. A) Representative Nile red images; B) Quantitation of images in A); n=20, ****p<0.0001

3.2.2. High levels of cholesterol esterification in high SR-B1 expressing cells

After confirming the accumulation of cholesteryl esters (CE), the next step was to figure out the factors responsible for this observation. The enzyme acyl-coenzyme A: cholesterol acyltransferase (ACAT) converts excess cholesterol to CE which is stored in lipid droplets [93]. The activity of the enzyme responsible for cholesterol esterification (ACAT) was determined in the NB cells. The levels of ACAT activity in high-risk NB cells were measured using ¹⁴C oleate. The high SR-B1 expressing cell line, SH-SY-5Y showed significantly more that cholesterol esterification that the cells with lower SR-B1 expression (Figure 3.8). SR-B1 expression is potentially positively associated with ACAT activity.



Figure 3.8. ACAT activity in NB cells: Cells were incubated in complete media containing 2μ Ci/mL of ¹⁴C oleate for 4 hours. Lipids were extracted with cold acetone and neutral lipids separated by thin layer chromatography. Incorporation of ¹⁴C-oleate into cholesterol esters per milligram of protein was measured using a beta counter and BCA assay. High SR-B1 expressing cell line showed higher ACAT activity than the low and moderate SR-B1 expressing cells; n=2, ***p ≤ 0.003

3.2.3. Inhibition of ACAT decreases cell survival and induces apoptosis NB

In some cancers, treatment with ACAT inhibitors reduced cell growth [101]. Here the effect of the ACAT inhibitor, avasimibe –a long chain fatty acyl CoA analog, was examined. Avasimibe had the greatest effect on SH-SY-5Y cells (high-SR-B1 expresser) with an observed half maximal inhibitory concentration (IC_{50}) of 9.6µM (Figure 3.9). Avasimibe IC_{50} of SMS-KCN and SMS-KCNR was 24.4µM and 17.4µM, respectively. Since the concentration of avasimibe needed to kill half of the low (SMS-KCN) and moderate (SMS-KCNR) SR-B1 expressing cells was extremely high, the SH-SY-5Y cells were used for subsequent experiments. Treatment of SH-SH-5Y cells with 8.5µM of avasimibe increased the concentration of apoptotic cells three- fold (Figure 3.10).

3.2.4. SR-B1 inhibition produces a greater reduction in cell survival than ACAT inhibition

The observation that inhibition of SR-B1 or ACAT reduced cell survival prompted the analysis of the effect of both SR-B1 and ACAT inhibition on cell survival. The results showed that inhibition of both ACAT and SR-B1 did not produce an additive killing effect. However as shown in figure 3.11, the inhibition of SR-B1 alone decreased cell survival to a greater degree than ACAT inhibition only. The cells dependence on an exogenous source of cholesterol for survival potentially exceeds its reliance on cholesterol esterification. This finding further confirmed the importance of SR-B1 in NB.



Cell Line	IC ₅₀ of Avasimibe (µM)
SMS-KCN	24.4 ± 1.6
SMS-KCNR	17.43 ± 3.5
SH-SY-5Y	9.6 ± 0.6

Figure 3.9. ACAT inhibition reduces cell survival: Cells were incubated in medium containing 10% FBS and treated with various concentrations of the ACAT inhibitor, avasimibe for 72 hours. At the end of treatment, cells were incubated with Cell- Counting Kit-8 (CCK-8) solution for 4 hours and absorbance of the orange formazan produced was measured at 450 nm. A) Cell survival plots; B) Table showing calculated IC₅₀ of avasimibe for cell lines: IC₅₀ was calculated using non-linear regression analysis-log (inhibitor) vs. response equation in GraphPad Prism 7; n=5



Figure 3.10. ACAT inhibition induces apoptosis: SH-SY-5Y cells were plated at 0.1×10^6 cells/mL and allowed to attach overnight. Then incubated in complete media containing 8.5μ M avasimibe for 72 hours. After treatment, 1×10^6 cells were harvested then resuspended in an Annexin V-FITC and propidium iodide solution and incubated at room temperature for 15 minutes. Stained cells were immediately analyzed using fluorescence detection and an image-based cell counting device. Scatterplots of the results were generated using the FCS Express 6 (De Novo Software). A) Control plots - RPMI supplemented with 10% FBS. B) 8.5μ M avasimibe treated plot of Annexin –FITC and PI stained SH-SY-5Y cells after SR-B1 antibody treatment; C) Quantitation of apoptotic cells represented as a bar graph. The percent of apoptotic cells is significantly higher in avasimibe treated cells versus control; n=3, ** p=0.001





3.2.5. SR-B1 inhibition decreases cellular cholesterol content

Several reports showed that inhibition or knockdown of SR-B1 reduced cell cholesterol content [82,84]. Here anti-SR-B1 antibody was use to block SR-B1 activity for 72 hours then cholesterol content of the cells were examine. As shown in figure 3.12, there was a significant reduction in cellular cholesterol fractions between the control and SR-B1 treated cells. This

suggests that the anti-SR-B1 antibody blocks the majority of the high affinity interactions between HDL and SR-B1 on the SH-SY-5Y cells which, inhibited cellular uptake of HDLcholesterol thus reducing cellular cholesterol content.



Figure 3.12. SR-B1 inhibition reduces cellular cholesterol content: Cells were treated as indicated for 72 hours. Then cholesterol was extracted from 1×10^6 SH-SY-5Y cells with hexane: isopropanol (v/v 3:2) solution and total and free cholesterol measured using Wako cholesterol assays kit. Protein content was determined with BCA. The cholesterol content in the cell after SR-B1 inhibition was significantly reduced when compared to untreated control cells. Control indicates RPMI media supplemented with 10% FBS; n=3, **p<0.007 TC- total cholesterol, FC-free cholesterol, CE – cholesteryl ester

3.2.6. Effect of delipidated serum on NB cells

A report by Uda et al. found that deprivation of CE from exogenous sources in CEM-CCRF lymphoblastic cell line decreased cell survival and that adding LDL or HDL rescued cell proliferation [148]. Given that NB cells express relatively high levels of SR-B1 and that SR-B1 facilitates uptake of HDL-cholesterol, we determined the effect of lipid depletion on cell survival, migration, invasion and cholesterol content. Figure 3.13 shows that culturing of cells in media containing 10% delipidated serum (DFBS) decreased cell survival by ~50%. Similarly a reduction in cell migration was also observed when the culture medium was depleted of lipids (Figure 3.13B).

When cancer cells are stressed, in this case by growth in lipid free serum, alterations in cell physiology occur [80]. As shown in figure 3.14, cholesterol content of the SH-SY-5Y cells was significantly reduced when cultured in DFBS. In figure 3.15, Western blot analysis shows increased SR-B1 expression in SH-SY-5Y cells (high-SR-B1 expresser) after 72 hours incubation in DFBS. This suggests that these cells may have increased their SR-B1 expression in an attempt to capture HDL-cholesterol [149]. Conversely no change in SR-B1 expression was observed in the low and moderate SR-B1 expressing cell lines possibly indicating that these cell lines may utilize mechanisms other than SR-B1 to obtain cholesterol.



Figure 3.13. Effect of lipid depleted serum on NB cells: A) Reduced cell survival of cells in DFBS: Cells were incubated in FBS or DFBS for 72 hours. Then cell survival was determined using the cell counting kit-8 (CCK-8); n=10 ****p<0.0001 B) Reduced cell migration of SH-SY-5Y cells in DFBS: Cells were incubated in FBS or DFBS for 72 hours then serum starved for 24 hours. The next day 50,000 cells were added to the upper well of the migration or invasion chamber. Subsequently, cells were allowed to migrate overnight. Next, the number of migrated or invaded cells were determined after staining the membrane with crystal violet; n=5 *p=0.03; FBS-Fetal Bovine Serum; DFBS- Delipidated Fetal Bovine Serum.



Figure 3.14. Delipidated serum reduces cellular cholesterol content: Reduced cholesterol content in SH-SY-5Y cells: Cells were incubated in DFBS for 72 hours. Then cholesterol was extracted from 1×10^{6} SH-SY-5Y cells with hexane: isopropanol (v/v 3:2) solution. Total and free cholesterol was measured using Wako cholesterol assay kits. Cholesteryl ester content was calculated by subtracting free cholesterol content from total cholesterol. Protein content was determined from the cell pellet via BCA; n=3 ***p=0.0001 FBS-Fetal Bovine Serum; DFBS-Delipidated Fetal Bovine Serum; TC- total cholesterol; FC-free cholesterol; CE – cholesteryl ester

3.2.7. Effect of lipoprotein addition on cell survival

In the previous section, it was shown that excess CE accumulated in SH-SY-5Y cells. Cellular CE originates from either esterification of free cholesterol to CE by the ACAT enzyme, or via import from exogenous lipoproteins [81]. Here, the ACAT inhibitor avasimibe and DFBS were used to study the effect of HDL addition on cell survival. Interestingly, addition of HDL did not significantly improve SMS-KCNR (moderate SR-B1 expresser) cell survival (figure 3.16A). However, as shown in figure 3.17B, addition of HDL increased SH-SY-5Y (high SR-B1 expresser) cell survival in either the presence or absence of ACAT inhibition. This suggests a possible link between SR-B1 expression and the dependence of cells on an extracellular source of cholesterol. The SH-SY-5Y cells expressed higher levels of SR-B1 than SMS-KCNR, which may account for the reduced response to HDL addition in the lower SR-B1 expressing cell line. Higher SR-B1 expression may indicate a greater need for extracellular cholesterol and thus may be a potential target for therapy.









Figure 3.16. Effect of HDL addition on cell survival: Cells were grown in FBS, DFBS or DFBS + HDL for 72 hours then cell survival was measured using the cell counting kit-8 (CCK-8) A) SMS-KCNR and B) SH-SY-5Y cell survival in the presence and absence of ACAT inhibition and HDL. The addition of HDL rescued the survival of SH-SY-5Y cells (high SR-B1 expresser) but in SMS-KCNR cells (moderate SR-B1 expresser) addition of HDL had no significant effect on cell survival. This suggests that the high SR-B1 expressing cell line is more dependent on HDL-cholesterol while the moderate SR-B1 cell line may be dependent on other sources of cholesterol such as LDL; n=3 *p=0.045, **p=0.003; FBS-Fetal Bovine Serum; DFBS- Delipidated Fetal Bovine Serum; HDL- High Density Lipoprotein: LDL- Low Density Lipoprotein

High SR-B1 expression correlates with poor NB patient outcome

In the preceding sections, SR-B1 has been implicated in cell proliferation, migration, invasion, apoptosis and cholesterol metabolism in NB cells. In this section the association between SR-B1 and patient prognosis in NB tissue biopsies was examined. Studies in breast and prostate cancer revealed a higher level of SR-B1 in cancerous tissues as compared to non-malignant tissue and this correlated with tumor aggressiveness and poor prognosis in patients [83,84,86,89].

To determine whether the expression of SR-B1 correlates with event-free and overall survival in patients with NB, we utilized existing RNA microarray data on the R2: Genomics Analysis and Visualization Platform to generate survival curves (Figure 3.17). Table 3.2 shows the characteristics of the patients in the Tumor Neuroblastoma-Kocak-649- custom-ag44kcwolf data set [37]. The International Neuroblastoma Staging System (INSS) classifies tumors into four stages based on clinical evaluation and ease of surgical resection of the tumor [24]. Stage 4 tumors have metastasized to the liver, bone, distant lymph nodes and other organs and are designated as high-risk [19]. Most of the tumors in this data set were stage 4 and were located in the adrenal gland. Analysis of patient survival data by SR-B1 gene expression showed that high SR-B1 expression in 35% of the NB patients and correlated with a significant decrease in eventfree and overall patient survival [37,129]. The definition of high and low expression was computer-generated based on the threshold that provided the best distinction between the two populations of SR-B1 gene expression. Moreover, analysis of SR-B1 expression and survival of high-risk patients in this data set also showed a correlation between high SR-B1 expression and poor outcome (Figure 3.18). High-risk patients with low SR-B1 expression had an overall survival probability that was twice higher than that of high-risk patients with high SR-B1

56

expression. Thus, it is plausible that SR-B1 may be a prognostic indicator of poor outcome in NB and a potential target for therapeutics.

Variable	N=649 (%)
Age	
Less than 18 months	414 (64)
More than 18 months	235 (36)
Gender	
Female	268 (41)
Male	344 (53)
Unknown	37 (6)
International Neuroblastoma Staging System	
(INSS) [24]	
Stage 1	153 (24)
Stage 2	113 (17)
Stage 3	91 (14)
Stage 4	214 (33)
Stage 4S	78 (12)
Primary Tumor Localization	
Abdomen	135 (21)
Neck/Chest	69 (11)
Adrenal Glands	276 (43)
Unknown	169 (26)

Table 3.2. Patient clinicopathological characteristics*

*Adapted from Kocak et al., Cell Death Dis, 2013[37]



Figure 3.17. High SR-B1 expression is correlated with reduced survival: A) Overall survival Kaplan-Meier curve; chi=20.40, degrees of freedom=1, p= 6.3×10^{-6} ; B) Event-free survival Kaplan-Meier curve. chi=14.72, degrees of freedom=1, p= 1.2×10^{-4} . Curves were generated with R2: Genomics Analysis and Visualization Platform using Tumor Neuroblastoma-Kocak-649-custom-ag44kcwolf data set. Overall survival describes the length of time the patient survived after diagnosis. Event-free survival describes the length of time the patient remains free of cancer-related adverse events after the end of primary treatment; n=476


Figure 3.18. High SR-B1 expression is correlated with reduced survival in high-risk (stage 4) NB: A) Overall survival Kaplan-Meier curve; chi=4.98 df=1 p=0.026, B) Event-free survival Kaplan-Meier curve; chi=4.24, df=1, p=0.039. Curves were generated with R2: Genomics Analysis and Visualization Platform using Tumor Neuroblastoma-Kocak-649- custom-ag44kcwolf data set; n=148

CHAPTER 4

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

The aim of this study was to identify the role of scavenger receptor class B type 1 (SR-B1) in neuroblastoma (NB). The findings of this study show that inhibiting SR-B1 reduces cell proliferation, migration, invasion and cholesterol content. Moreover, culturing of cells in lipid free serum resulted in decreased cell survival, which was reversed by the addition of high-density lipoprotein (HDL). Finally, this study showed a correlation between high expression of SR-B1 and poor patient outcome. These findings suggest a link between SR-B1 and NB progression and indicate that SR-B1 may serve as a potential therapeutic target.

Association of SR-B1 expression with NB cell aggressiveness

SR-B1 is a membrane protein that binds HDL facilitating the transport of cellular cholesterol, a critical component for tumor cell proliferation and metastasis [66,79,102,146]. Furthermore, SR-B1 is overexpressed in a variety of cancers [71,82,83,85-87]. In our study, SR-B1 was expressed to varying degrees in all NB cell lines tested, while it was lower in normal human astrocytes. The results are broadly consistent with observations of SR-B1 expression in other malignancies. In nasopharyngeal carcinoma cell lines high expression of SR-B1 was observed [88]. Shahzad et al. confirmed these findings and showed higher expression of SR-B1 in different cancerous tissues but not in normal tissues tested except in the liver [71].

The link between SR-B1 and cell proliferation and aggressiveness, observed in other cancers, prompted an investigation to determine whether SR-B1 plays similar roles in NB. Firstly, three NB cells were selected based impart on their level of SR-B1 expression. SMS-KCN and SMS-KCNR cell lines were obtained from an 11-month old male at diagnosis and post chemotherapy, respectively and showed differential expression of SR-B1. SH-SY-5Y, a thrice sub-line of SK-N-SH obtained from a 2-year old girl post therapy, showed the highest level of SR-B1 expression [135]. The proliferation and migration of SMS-KCN, SMS-KCNR and SH-SY-5Y was also compared. SH-SY-5Y hereafter referred to as the high SR-B1 expresser, had the steepest growth curve and greatest cell migration percentage. While the moderate SR-B1 expresser (SMS-KCNR) and lower SR-B1 expresser (SMS-KCN) showed growth and migration patterns that corresponded with their SR-B1 expression.

In the present study, a role for SR-B1 in the proliferation, migration and invasion of NB was established. Consistent with results obtained in other cancers, inhibition of SR-B1 reduced cell survival, migration and invasion. In a breast cancer study, knockdown or pharmacologic inhibition of SR-B1 also inhibited cell proliferation, migration and invasion [82]. Similarly in prostate cancer, knockdown of SR-B1 reduced cell viability [84]. In our current study, anti-SR-B1 antibody against the extracellular domain of the SR-B1 receptor was utilized as the inhibitor, to limit or eliminate SR-B1 function. Earlier studies have successfully used anti-SR-B1 antibody to inhibit SR-B1 function [56,130,150,151]. Using DiI HDL, Temel et al. showed that SR-B1 antibody inhibited the uptake of DiI HDL in a dose-dependent manner [130]. SR-B1 antibody treatment blocks the high–affinity interactions between HDL and SR-B1 disrupting its function [130,150]. Furthermore, this study showed that inhibition of SR-B1 induced apoptosis in NB

61

cells. Taken together, these results describe for the first time, specific roles for SR-B1 in NB cell survival, migration and invasion and induction of apoptosis.

SR-B1 regulates cholesterol metabolism in NB

SR-B1 and HDL are well-known for their roles in the development of atherosclerosis and the process of reverse cholesterol transport where HDL carries excess cholesterol from peripheral cells and transports them to the liver for recycling or excretion [62]. In addition, SR-B1 and HDL function in many other cellular processes such as initiation of cell signaling [73], regulation of cholesterol membrane content [54] and phagocytosis of apoptotic cells [70]. Although high expression of SR-B1 has been observed in numerous malignancies [83,86-88] and correlated with regulation of cholesterol metabolism in breast cancer [82,89], the effect of SR-B1 on cholesterol metabolism in NB is yet to be elucidated. Liu et al. revealed the metabolic reprogramming of the serine and cholesterol pathways in NB and suggested metabolic gene expression may be a prognostic indicator for NB [110]. However, neither SR-B1 expression nor its role in NB cholesterol metabolism was investigated sufficiently.

Altered cholesterol metabolism via intracellular accumulation of lipids was observed for the first time in NB cells. This study also identified ACAT activity in NB cells and showed that inhibition of that enzyme with avasimibe reduces cell survival and induces apoptosis. These results are broadly consistent with results obtained in glioblastoma cell lines where avasimibe treatment reduced cell survival and induced cell cycle arrest and apoptosis [126]. We demonstrated that inhibition of both ACAT and SR-B1 did not produce an additive effect; rather the results indicate that SR-B1 may have a greater effect on cell survival than avasimibe.

A study by Uda et al. showed that CE deprivation reduced cell proliferation and suggested that leukemia cells required a lipoprotein source of CE for survival [148]. A limitation

62

of this study was that the role of the expression of lipoprotein receptors such as SR-B1 was not examined [148]. To bridge this gap, we used NB cell lines with varying SR-B1 expression to determine the effect of lipid deprivation on cell survival, migration, invasion and cholesterol content. As expected, culturing of the cells in delipidated FBS (DFBS) reduced cell survival, migration and invasion as well as diminished cell cholesterol content. Remarkably, lipid deprivation increased expression of SR-B1 in the high SR-B1 expresser cell line, while SR-B1 expression remained unchanged in the low and moderate SR-B1 expressing cell lines. These findings indicate that lipid deprivation may be associated with upregulation of SR-B1 in an attempt to obtain exogenous HDL-cholesterol. Furthermore, this is the first study to show that addition of HDL rescues NB cell survival. It should be noted that HDL addition had no effect on cell survival in the low and moderate SR-B1 expressing cell lines. This data further suggests that a high expression of SR-B1 indicates an increased dependence on an exogenous source of cholesterol, most likely originating from HDL. Our study also found that inhibition of SR-B1 reduced cholesterol content in the NB cells. This observation is new in the NB field and concurs with studies in breast cancer that showed knockdown of SR-B1 reduced cellular cholesterol content [82].

Association between SR-B1 expression and patient outcome

Studies in a number of cancers revealed an association between tumor SR-B1 expression and poor patient prognosis [84-87]. In the present study, SR-B1 gene expression in NB patient biopsies was analyzed using Tumor Neuroblastoma-Kocak-649- custom-ag44kcwolf data and the R2: Genomics Analysis and Visualization Platform [37,129]. High SR-B1 expression was observed in 35% of samples and correlated with reduced patient overall and event-free survival. Further analysis of this dataset using survival data of the high-risk patients also showed an association between high SR-B1 expression and poor overall and event free survival. These results indicate for the first time the potential prognostic value of SR-B1 in NB.

Neuroblastoma (NB) is often described as an enigmatic disease due to the common variability in patient outcomes. Some NB tumors mature into benign ganglioneuroma while others may spontaneously regress [38]. However, patients older than 12 months have an overall poor prognosis as they frequently present with extensive metastatic disease at diagnosis [19]. The identification of genetic features of NB such as *MYCN* amplification, 1p chromosome deletion or DNA ploidy have greatly impacted NB classification and treatment approaches. Over the years other features such as neurtrophin receptors expression, p53 status, and Akt2 have all provided additional insight into the mechanisms that drive NB [152]. Here SR-B1 is presented as another factor that is associated with NB progression and clinical outcome.

Our findings are anticipated to contribute to the development of SR-B1 as a therapeutic target for NB. The high expression of SR-B1 by NB cells along with its dependence on HDL for cholesterol offers an avenue for novel and potentially improved therapy. In one study, reconstituted high density lipoprotein (rHDL) containing the drug fenretinide was more effective at reducing the viability of NB cells and showed a marked protective effect on non-malignant retinal cells [153]. The targeted delivery of the drug via the SR-B1 receptor diminished off-target toxic effects [153]. Furthermore, a HDL mimetic peptide nanoparticle was shown to inhibit growth of high SR-B1 expressing nasopharyngeal carcinoma [88].

Future studies include knockdown of SR-B1 in an orthotopic NB mouse model to examine the effect of SR-B1 on tumor growth. Additionally, the use of statins to inhibit de novo synthesis of cholesterol may provide insight into the effect of cholesterol synthesis inhibition on

64

SR-B1 function. Future larger studies with neuroblastoma tissue examining SR-B1 expression as well as analysis of the serum lipoprotein in NB patients to determine if the high SR-B1 expression observed is associated with reduce levels of plasma HDL is recommended.

Conclusions

In summary, the results suggest that SR-B1 expression is associated with NB cell proliferation and migration. Additionally, inhibition of SR-B1 suppressed cell proliferation, migration and invasion, and enhanced apoptosis in NB. SR-B1 potentially regulates cellular cholesterol content and is up regulated in some NB cells during periods of CE deprivation. Taken together, these findings identify SR-B1 as an important regulator of NB progression and a potential therapeutic target for treatment of neuroblastoma.

REFERENCES

- 1. Virchow, R. Hyperplasie der zirbel und der nebennieren. *Die Krankhaften Geschwulste* **1864-65**, *2*.
- 2. Rothenberg, A.B.; Berdon, W.E.; D'Angio, G.J.; Yamashiro, D.J.; Cowles, R.A. Neuroblastoma-remembering the three physicians who described it a century ago: James homer wright, william pepper, and robert hutchison. *Pediatric radiology* **2009**, *39*, 155-160.
- 3. Wright, J.H. Neurocytoma or neuroblastoma, a kind of tumor not generally recognized. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* **1910**, *12*, 556-561.
- 4. Pdq pediatric treatment editorial board. Neuroblastoma treatment (pdq®): Health professional version. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK65747/</u>
- 5. Bagatell, R.; Cohn, S.L. Genetic discoveries and treatment advances in neuroblastoma. *Curr Opin Pediatr* **2016**, *28*, 19-25.
- 6. Parisi, M.T.; Eslamy, H.; Park, J.R.; Shulkin, B.L.; Yanik, G.A. (131)imetaiodobenzylguanidine theranostics in neuroblastoma: Historical perspectives; practical applications. *Seminars in nuclear medicine* **2016**, *46*, 184-202.
- 7. Newman, E.A.; Nuchtern, J.G. Recent biologic and genetic advances in neuroblastoma: Implications for diagnostic, risk stratification, and treatment strategies. *Seminars in pediatric surgery* **2016**, *25*, 257-264.
- 8. Acosta, S.; Lavarino, C.; Paris, R.; Garcia, I.; de Torres, C.; Rodriguez, E.; Beleta, H.; Mora, J. Comprehensive characterization of neuroblastoma cell line subtypes reveals bilineage potential similar to neural crest stem cells. *BMC developmental biology* **2009**, *9*, 12-213X-219-212.
- 9. Matthay, K.K.; George, R.E.; Yu, A.L. Promising therapeutic targets in neuroblastoma. *Clin Cancer Res* **2012**, *18*, 2740-2753.
- 10. Megison, M.L.; Gillory, L.A.; Beierle, E.A. Cell survival signaling in neuroblastoma. *Anticancer Agents Med Chem* **2013**, *13*, 563-575.
- 11. Mei, H.; Wang, Y.; Lin, Z.; Tong, Q. The mtor signaling pathway in pediatric neuroblastoma. *Pediatric hematology and oncology* **2013**, *30*, 605-615.
- 12. Ratner, N.; Brodeur, G.M.; Dale, R.C.; Schor, N.F. The "neuro" of neuroblastoma: Neuroblastoma as a neurodevelopmental disorder. *Annals of Neurology* **2016**.
- 13. Ward, E.; DeSantis, C.; Robbins, A.; Kohler, B.; Jemal, A. Childhood and adolescent cancer statistics, 2014. *CA Cancer J Clin* **2014**, *64*, 83-103.
- 14. Howlader, N., Noone, AM., Krapcho, M., Seer cancer statistics review, 1975-2010. *National Cancer Institute* **2013**, *Section 28*.
- 15. Cheung, N.-K.V.; Dyer, M.A. Neuroblastoma: Developmental biology, cancer genomics and immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* **2013**, *13*, 397-411.
- 16. Rogowitz, E.; Babiker, H.M.; Kanaan, M.; Millius, R.A.; Ringenberg, Q.S.; Bishop, M. Neuroblastoma of the elderly, an oncologist's nightmare: Case presentation, literature review and seer database analysis. *Experimental Hematology & Oncology* **2014**, *3*, 20-20.

- 17. Heck, J.E.; Ritz, B.; Hung, R.J.; Hashibe, M.; Boffetta, P. The epidemiology of neuroblastoma: A review. *Paediatric and perinatal epidemiology* **2009**, *23*, 125-143.
- 18. Jiang, M.; Stanke, J.; Lahti, J.M. The connections between neural crest development and neuroblastoma. *Current topics in developmental biology* **2011**, *94*, 77-127.
- 19. Cheung, N.K.; Dyer, M.A. Neuroblastoma: Developmental biology, cancer genomics and immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* **2013**, *13*, 397-411.
- 20. Knecht, A.K.; Bronner-Fraser, M. Induction of the neural crest: A multigene process. *Nat Rev Genet* 2002, *3*, 453-461.
- 21. Citak, C.; Karadeniz, C.; Dalgic, B.; Oguz, A.; Poyraz, A.; Okur, V.; Boyunaga, O. Intestinal lymphangiectasia as a first manifestation of neuroblastoma. *Pediatr Blood Cancer* **2006**, *46*, 105-107.
- 22. Bourdeaut, F.; de Carli, E.; Timsit, S.; Coze, C.; Chastagner, P.; Sarnacki, S.; Delattre, O.; Peuchmaur, M.; Rubie, H.; Michon, J. Vip hypersecretion as primary or secondary syndrome in neuroblastoma: A retrospective study by the societe francaise des cancers de l'enfant (sfce). *Pediatr Blood Cancer* **2009**, *52*, 585-590.
- 23. Board, P.D.Q.P.T.E. Neuroblastoma treatment (pdq(r)): Health professional version. In *Pdq cancer information summaries*, National Cancer Institute (US): Bethesda (MD), 2002.
- 24. Brodeur, G.M.; Pritchard, J.; Berthold, F.; Carlsen, N.L.; Castel, V.; Castelberry, R.P.; De Bernardi, B.; Evans, A.E.; Favrot, M.; Hedborg, F., *et al.* Revisions of the international criteria for neuroblastoma diagnosis, staging, and response to treatment. *J Clin Oncol* **1993**, *11*, 1466-1477.
- 25. Yang, J.; Codreanu, I.; Servaes, S.; Zhuang, H. I-131 mibg post-therapy scan is more sensitive than i-123 mibg pretherapy scan in the evaluation of metastatic neuroblastoma. *Nuclear medicine communications* **2012**, *33*, 1134-1137.
- 26. Scarsbrook, A.F.; Ganeshan, A.; Statham, J.; Thakker, R.V.; Weaver, A.; Talbot, D.; Boardman, P.; Bradley, K.M.; Gleeson, F.V.; Phillips, R.R. Anatomic and functional imaging of metastatic carcinoid tumors. *RadioGraphics* **2007**, *27*, 455-477.
- 27. Sawada, T.; Matsumura, T.; Kawakatsu, H.; Sugimoto, T.; Kuroda, H.; Hosoi, H.; Michihata, T.; Saida, T.; Hino, T. Long-term effects of mass screening for neuroblastoma in infancy. *The American journal of pediatric hematology/oncology* **1991**, *13*, 3-7.
- 28. Reynolds, C.P.; Tomayko, M.M.; Donner, L.; Helson, L.; Seeger, R.C.; Triche, T.J.; Brodeur, G.M. Biological classification of cell lines derived from human extra-cranial neural tumors. *Progress in clinical and biological research* **1988**, *271*, 291-306.
- 29. Rogers, D.W.; Treleaven, J.G.; Kemshead, J.T.; Pritchard, J. Monoclonal antibodies for detecting bone marrow invasion by neuroblastoma. *Journal of clinical pathology* **1989**, *42*, 422-426.
- 30. Cheung, N.K.; Von Hoff, D.D.; Strandjord, S.E.; Coccia, P.F. Detection of neuroblastoma cells in bone marrow using gd2 specific monoclonal antibodies. *J Clin Oncol* **1986**, *4*, 363-369.
- Shimada, H.; Chatten, J.; Newton, W.A., Jr.; Sachs, N.; Hamoudi, A.B.; Chiba, T.; Marsden, H.B.; Misugi, K. Histopathologic prognostic factors in neuroblastic tumors: Definition of subtypes of ganglioneuroblastoma and an age-linked classification of neuroblastomas. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 1984, 73, 405-416.

- 32. Shimada, H.; Ambros, I.M.; Dehner, L.P.; Hata, J.; Joshi, V.V.; Roald, B.; Stram, D.O.; Gerbing, R.B.; Lukens, J.N.; Matthay, K.K., *et al.* The international neuroblastoma pathology classification (the shimada system). *Cancer* **1999**, *86*, 364-372.
- 33. Shimada, H. International neuroblastoma pathology classification. *Pathology* **2012**, *44*, S11-S12.
- 34. Shimada, H.; Umehara, S.; Monobe, Y.; Hachitanda, Y.; Nakagawa, A.; Goto, S.; Gerbing, R.B.; Stram, D.O.; Lukens, J.N.; Matthay, K.K. International neuroblastoma pathology classification for prognostic evaluation of patients with peripheral neuroblastic tumors: A report from the children's cancer group. *Cancer* **2001**, *92*, 2451-2461.
- 35. Brodeur, G.M.; Seeger, R.C.; Barrett, A.; Berthold, F.; Castleberry, R.P.; D'Angio, G.; Bernardi, B.D.; Evans, A.E.; Favrot, M.; Freeman, A.I. International criteria for diagnosis, staging, and response to treatment in patients with neuroblastoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* **1988**, *6*, 1874-1881.
- 36. D'Angio, G.J.; Evans, A.E.; Koop, C.E. Special pattern of widespread neuroblastoma with a favourable prognosis. *Lancet (London, England)* **1971**, *1*, 1046-1049.
- 37. Kocak, H.; Ackermann, S.; Hero, B.; Kahlert, Y.; Oberthuer, A.; Juraeva, D.; Roels, F.; Theissen, J.; Westermann, F.; Deubzer, H., *et al.* Hox-c9 activates the intrinsic pathway of apoptosis and is associated with spontaneous regression in neuroblastoma. *Cell Death Dis* **2013**, *4*, e586.
- 38. Brodeur, G.M. Neuroblastoma: Biological insights into a clinical enigma. *Nat Rev Cancer* **2003**, *3*, 203-216.
- 39. Castel, V.; Grau, E.; Noguera, R.; Martinez, F. Molecular biology of neuroblastoma. *Clin Transl Oncol* **2007**, *9*, 478-483.
- 40. Maris, J.M.; Matthay, K.K. Molecular biology of neuroblastoma. *J Clin Oncol* **1999**, *17*, 2264-2279.
- 41. Mueller, S.; Matthay, K.K. Neuroblastoma: Biology and staging. *Current oncology reports* **2009**, *11*, 431-438.
- 42. Knudson, A.G., Jr.; Strong, L.C. Mutation and cancer: Neuroblastoma and pheochromocytoma. *American journal of human genetics* **1972**, *24*, 514-532.
- 43. Kohl, N.E.; Kanda, N.; Schreck, R.R.; Bruns, G.; Latt, S.A.; Gilbert, F.; Alt, F.W. Transposition and amplification of oncogene-related sequences in human neuroblastomas. *Cell* **1983**, *35*, 359-367.
- 44. Kamijo, T.; Nakagawara, A. Molecular and genetic bases of neuroblastoma. *International journal of clinical oncology* **2012**, *17*, 190-195.
- 45. Maris, J.M.; Hogarty, M.D.; Bagatell, R.; Cohn, S.L. Neuroblastoma. *Lancet (London, England)* **2007**, *369*, 2106-2120.
- 46. Nakagawara, A.; Azar, C.G.; Scavarda, N.J.; Brodeur, G.M. Expression and function of trk-b and bdnf in human neuroblastomas. *Mol Cell Biol* **1994**, *14*, 759-767.
- 47. Cohn, S.L.; Pearson, A.D.J.; London, W.B.; Monclair, T.; Ambros, P.F.; Brodeur, G.M.; Faldum, A.; Hero, B.; Iehara, T.; Machin, D., *et al.* The international neuroblastoma risk group (inrg) classification system: An inrg task force report. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* **2009**, *27*, 289-297.
- 48. Monclair, T.; Brodeur, G.M.; Ambros, P.F.; Brisse, H.J.; Cecchetto, G.; Holmes, K.; Kaneko, M.; London, W.B.; Matthay, K.K.; Nuchtern, J.G., *et al.* The international neuroblastoma risk group (inrg) staging system: An inrg task force report. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* **2009**, *27*, 298-303.

- 49. Cohn, S.L.; Pearson, A.D.; London, W.B.; Monclair, T.; Ambros, P.F.; Brodeur, G.M.; Faldum, A.; Hero, B.; Iehara, T.; Machin, D., *et al.* The international neuroblastoma risk group (inrg) classification system: An inrg task force report. *J Clin Oncol* **2009**, *27*, 289-297.
- 50. Davidoff, A.M. Neuroblastoma. *Seminars in pediatric surgery* **2012**, *21*, 2-14.
- Pinto, N.R.; Applebaum, M.A.; Volchenboum, S.L.; Matthay, K.K.; London, W.B.; Ambros, P.F.; Nakagawara, A.; Berthold, F.; Schleiermacher, G.; Park, J.R., *et al.* Advances in risk classification and treatment strategies for neuroblastoma. *J Clin Oncol* 2015, *33*, 3008-3017.
- 52. Strother, D.R.; London, W.B.; Schmidt, M.L.; Brodeur, G.M.; Shimada, H.; Thorner, P.; Collins, M.H.; Tagge, E.; Adkins, S.; Reynolds, C.P., *et al.* Outcome after surgery alone or with restricted use of chemotherapy for patients with low-risk neuroblastoma: Results of children's oncology group study p9641. *J Clin Oncol* **2012**, *30*, 1842-1848.
- 53. Hoy, S.M. Dinutuximab: A review in high-risk neuroblastoma. *Targeted oncology* **2016**, *11*, 247-253.
- 54. Krieger, M. Charting the fate of the "good cholesterol": Identification and characterization of the high-density lipoprotein receptor sr-bi. *Annual review of biochemistry* **1999**, *68*, 523-558.
- 55. Shen, W.J.; Hu, J.; Hu, Z.; Kraemer, F.B.; Azhar, S. Scavenger receptor class b type i (srbi): A versatile receptor with multiple functions and actions. *Metabolism: clinical and experimental* **2014**, *63*, 875-886.
- 56. Acton, S.; Rigotti, A.; Landschulz, K.T.; Xu, S.; Hobbs, H.H.; Krieger, M. Identification of scavenger receptor sr-bi as a high density lipoprotein receptor. *Science* **1996**, *271*, 518-520.
- 57. Ikemoto, M.; Arai, H.; Feng, D.; Tanaka, K.; Aoki, J.; Dohmae, N.; Takio, K.; Adachi, H.; Tsujimoto, M.; Inoue, K. Identification of a pdz-domain-containing protein that interacts with the scavenger receptor class b type i. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **2000**, *97*, 6538-6543.
- 58. Saddar, S.; Mineo, C.; Shaul, P.W. Signaling by the high-affinity hdl receptor scavenger receptor b type i. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* **2010**, *30*, 144-150.
- 59. Valacchi, G.; Sticozzi, C.; Lim, Y.; Pecorelli, A. Scavenger receptor class b type i: A multifunctional receptor. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* **2011**, *1229*, E1-7.
- 60. Rhainds, D.; Brissette, L. The role of scavenger receptor class b type i (sr-bi) in lipid trafficking: Defining the rules for lipid traders. *The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology* **2004**, *36*, 39-77.
- 61. Williams, D.L.; Connelly, M.A.; Temel, R.E.; Swarnakar, S.; Phillips, M.C.; de la Llera-Moya, M.; Rothblat, G.H. Scavenger receptor bi and cholesterol trafficking. *Curr Opin Lipidol* **1999**, *10*, 329-339.
- 62. Fielding, C.J.; Fielding, P.E. Molecular physiology of reverse cholesterol transport. *Journal of Lipid Research* **1995**, *36*, 211-228.
- 63. Trigatti, B.L.; Fuller, M. Hdl signaling and protection against coronary artery atherosclerosis in mice. *Journal of biomedical research* **2016**, *30*, 94-100.
- 64. Trigatti, B.L.; Krieger, M.; Rigotti, A. Influence of the hdl receptor sr-bi on lipoprotein metabolism and atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* **2003**, *23*, 1732-1738.

- 65. Goldstein, J.L.; Brown, M.S. Lipoprotein receptors, cholesterol metabolism, and atherosclerosis. *Archives of pathology* **1975**, *99*, 181-184.
- 66. Thuahnai, S.T.; Lund-Katz, S.; Dhanasekaran, P.; de la Llera-Moya, M.; Connelly, M.A.; Williams, D.L.; Rothblat, G.H.; Phillips, M.C. Scavenger receptor class b type i-mediated cholesteryl ester-selective uptake and efflux of unesterified cholesterol. Influence of high density lipoprotein size and structure. *J Biol Chem* **2004**, *279*, 12448-12455.
- 67. Saddar, S.; Carriere, V.; Lee, W.R.; Tanigaki, K.; Yuhanna, I.S.; Parathath, S.; Morel, E.; Warrier, M.; Sawyer, J.K.; Gerard, R.D., *et al.* Scavenger receptor class b type i is a plasma membrane cholesterol sensor. *Circulation research* **2013**, *112*, 140-151.
- 68. Miettinen, H.E.; Rayburn, H.; Krieger, M. Abnormal lipoprotein metabolism and reversible female infertility in hdl receptor (sr-bi)-deficient mice. *J Clin Invest* **2001**, *108*, 1717-1722.
- 69. Barth, H.; Schnober, E.K.; Neumann-Haefelin, C.; Thumann, C.; Zeisel, M.B.; Diepolder, H.M.; Hu, Z.; Liang, T.J.; Blum, H.E.; Thimme, R., *et al.* Scavenger receptor class b is required for hepatitis c virus uptake and cross-presentation by human dendritic cells. *Journal of virology* **2008**, *82*, 3466-3479.
- 70. Osada, Y.; Sunatani, T.; Kim, I.S.; Nakanishi, Y.; Shiratsuchi, A. Signalling pathway involving gulp, mapk and rac1 for sr-bi-induced phagocytosis of apoptotic cells. *Journal of biochemistry* **2009**, *145*, 387-394.
- 71. Shahzad, M.M.K.; Mangala, L.S.; Han, H.D.; Lu, C.; Bottsford-Miller, J.; Nishimura, M.; Mora, E.M.; Lee, J.-W.; Stone, R.L.; Pecot, C.V., *et al.* Targeted delivery of small interfering rna using reconstituted high-density lipoprotein nanoparticles. *Neoplasia* 2011, *13*, 309-IN308.
- 72. Valacchi, G.; Maioli, E.; Sticozzi, C.; Cervellati, F.; Pecorelli, A.; Cervellati, C.; Hayek, J. Exploring the link between scavenger receptor b1 expression and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease pathogenesis. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* **2015**, *1340*, 47-54.
- 73. Nofer, J.R. Signal transduction by hdl: Agonists, receptors, and signaling cascades. *Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology* **2015**, *224*, 229-256.
- 74. Mooberry, L.K.; Sabnis, N.A.; Panchoo, M.; Nagarajan, B.; Lacko, A.G. Targeting the sr-b1 receptor as a gateway for cancer therapy and imaging. *Front Pharmacol* **2016**, *7*, 466.
- 75. Phillips, M.C. Molecular mechanisms of cellular cholesterol efflux. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **2014**, *289*, 24020-24029.
- 76. Williams, D.L.; de la Llera-Moya, M.; Thuahnai, S.T.; Lund-Katz, S.; Connelly, M.A.; Azhar, S.; Anantharamaiah, G.M.; Phillips, M.C. Binding and cross-linking studies show that scavenger receptor bi interacts with multiple sites in apolipoprotein a-i and identify the class a amphipathic α-helix as a recognition motif. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2000, *275*, 18897-18904.
- 77. de La Llera-Moya, M.; Connelly, M.A.; Drazul, D.; Klein, S.M.; Favari, E.; Yancey, P.G.; Williams, D.L.; Rothblat, G.H. Scavenger receptor class b type i affects cholesterol homeostasis by magnifying cholesterol flux between cells and hdl. *J Lipid Res* 2001, *42*, 1969-1978.
- 78. Gutierrez-Pajares, J.; Ben Hassen, C.l.; Chevalier, S.p.; Frank, P.G. Sr-bi: Linking cholesterol and lipoprotein metabolism with breast and prostate cancer. *Frontiers in Pharmacology* **2016**, *7*, 338.

- Yu, X.; Guo, C.; Fisher, P.B.; Subjeck, J.R.; Wang, X.Y. Scavenger receptors: Emerging roles in cancer biology and immunology. *Advances in Cancer Research* 2015, *128*, 309-364.
- 80. Hanahan, D.; Weinberg, R.A. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 2000, 100, 57-70.
- 81. Cell growth and cholesterol esters. 1 ed.; Springer US: Austin TX, USA, 2004; p 137.
- 82. Danilo, C.; Gutierrez-Pajares, J.L.; Mainieri, M.A.; Mercier, I.; Lisanti, M.P.; Frank, P.G. Scavenger receptor class b type i regulates cellular cholesterol metabolism and cell signaling associated with breast cancer development. *Breast cancer research : BCR* 2013, *15*, R87.
- 83. Schorghofer, D.; Kinslechner, K.; Preitschopf, A.; Schutz, B.; Rohrl, C.; Hengstschlager, M.; Stangl, H.; Mikula, M. The hdl receptor sr-bi is associated with human prostate cancer progression and plays a possible role in establishing androgen independence. *Reproductive biology and endocrinology : RB&E* **2015**, *13*, 88-015-0087-z.
- 84. Twiddy, A.L.; Cox, M.E.; Wasan, K.M. Knockdown of scavenger receptor class b type i reduces prostate specific antigen secretion and viability of prostate cancer cells. *The Prostate* **2012**, *72*, 955-965.
- 85. Xu, G.; Lou, N.; Xu, Y.; Shi, H.; Ruan, H.; Xiao, W.; Liu, L.; Xiao, H.; Qiu, B.; Bao, L., *et al.* Diagnostic and prognostic value of scavenger receptor class b type 1 in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. *Tumour Biol* **2017**, *39*, 1010428317699110.
- 86. Yuan, B.; Wu, C.; Wang, X.; Wang, D.; Liu, H.; Guo, L.; Li, X.A.; Han, J.; Feng, H. High scavenger receptor class b type i expression is related to tumor aggressiveness and poor prognosis in breast cancer. *Tumour biology : the journal of the International Society for Oncodevelopmental Biology and Medicine* **2016**, *37*, 3581-3588.
- 87. Kinslechner, K.; Schorghofer, D.; Schutz, B.; Vallianou, M.; Wingelhofer, B.; Mikulits, W.; Rohrl, C.; Hengstschlager, M.; Moriggl, R.; Stangl, H., *et al.* Malignant phenotypes in metastatic melanoma are governed by sr-bi and its association with glycosylation and stat5 activation. *Mol Cancer Res* **2017**.
- 88. Zheng, Y.; Liu, Y.; Jin, H.; Pan, S.; Qian, Y.; Huang, C.; Zeng, Y.; Luo, Q.; Zeng, M.; Zhang, Z. Scavenger receptor b1 is a potential biomarker of human nasopharyngeal carcinoma and its growth is inhibited by hdl-mimetic nanoparticles. *Theranostics* **2013**, *3*, 477-486.
- 89. de Gonzalo-Calvo, D.; Lopez-Vilaro, L.; Nasarre, L.; Perez-Olabarria, M.; Vazquez, T.; Escuin, D.; Badimon, L.; Barnadas, A.; Lerma, E.; Llorente-Cortes, V. Intratumor cholesteryl ester accumulation is associated with human breast cancer proliferation and aggressive potential: A molecular and clinicopathological study. *BMC cancer* **2015**, *15*, 460-015-1469-1465.
- 90. Cao, W.M.; Murao, K.; Imachi, H.; Yu, X.; Abe, H.; Yamauchi, A.; Niimi, M.; Miyauchi, A.; Wong, N.C.; Ishida, T. A mutant high-density lipoprotein receptor inhibits proliferation of human breast cancer cells. *Cancer research* **2004**, *64*, 1515-1521.
- 91. Feingold, K.R.; Grunfeld, C. Introduction to lipids and lipoproteins. In *Endotext*, De Groot, L.J.; Chrousos, G.; Dungan, K.; Feingold, K.R.; Grossman, A.; Hershman, J.M.; Koch, C.; Korbonits, M.; McLachlan, R.; New, M., *et al.*, Eds. MDText.com, Inc.: South Dartmouth (MA), 2000.
- 92. Mukherjee, S.; Kunitake, G.; Alfinslater, R.B. The esterification of cholesterol with palmitic acid by rat liver homogenates. *J Biol Chem* **1958**, *230*, 91-96.

- 93. Chang, T.-Y.; Li, B.-L.; Chang, C.C.Y.; Urano, Y. Acyl-coenzyme a:Cholesterol acyltransferases. *American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology and Metabolism* **2009**, *297*, E1-E9.
- 94. Kraemer, F.B.; Khor, V.K.; Shen, W.J.; Azhar, S. Cholesterol ester droplets and steroidogenesis. *Molecular and cellular endocrinology* **2013**, *371*, 15-19.
- 95. Jiang, S.S.; Weng, D.S.; Jiang, L.; Zhang, Y.J.; Pan, K.; Pan, Q.Z.; Chen, C.L.; Zhao, J.J.; Zhang, X.F.; Zhang, H.X., *et al.* The clinical significance of preoperative serum cholesterol and high-density lipoprotein-cholesterol levels in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Journal of Cancer* **2016**, *7*, 626-632.
- 96. Muntoni, S.; Atzori, L.; Mereu, R.; Satta, G.; Macis, M.D.; Congia, M.; Tedde, A.; Desogus, A.; Muntoni, S. Serum lipoproteins and cancer. *Nutrition, metabolism, and cardiovascular diseases : NMCD* **2009**, *19*, 218-225.
- 97. Omabe, M.; Ezeani, M.; Omabe, K.N. Lipid metabolism and cancer progression: The missing target in metastatic cancer treatment. *Journal of Applied Biomedicine* **2015**, *13*, 47-59.
- 98. Santos, C.R.; Schulze, A. Lipid metabolism in cancer. *The FEBS journal* **2012**, *279*, 2610-2623.
- 99. Hanahan, D.; Weinberg, Robert A. Hallmarks of cancer: The next generation. *Cell* **2011**, *144*, 646-674.
- 100. Batetta, B.; Pani, A.; Putzolu, M.; Sanna, F.; Bonatesta, R.; Piras, S.; Spano, O.; Mulas, M.F.; Dessi, S. Correlation between cholesterol esterification, mdr1 gene expression and rate of cell proliferation in cem and molt4 cell lines. *Cell Prolif* **1999**, *32*, 49-61.
- 101. Bandyopadhyay, S.; Li, J.; Traer, E.; Tyner, J.W.; Zhou, A.; Oh, S.T.; Cheng, J.X. Cholesterol esterification inhibition and imatinib treatment synergistically inhibit growth of bcr-abl mutation-independent resistant chronic myelogenous leukemia. *PLoS One* 2017, *12*, e0179558.
- 102. Silvente-Poirot, S.; Poirot, M. Cholesterol metabolism and cancer: The good, the bad and the ugly. *Current Opinion in Pharmacology* **2012**, *12*, 673-676.
- 103. Yue, S.; Li, J.; Lee, S.Y.; Lee, H.J.; Shao, T.; Song, B.; Cheng, L.; Masterson, T.A.; Liu, X.; Ratliff, T.L., *et al.* Cholesteryl ester accumulation induced by pten loss and pi3k/akt activation underlies human prostate cancer aggressiveness. *Cell metabolism* 2014, *19*, 393-406.
- 104. Sun, Y.; Meng, H.; Jin, Y.; Shi, X.; Wu, Y.; Fan, D.; Wang, X.; Jia, X.; Dai, H. Serum lipid profile in gynecologic tumors: A retrospective clinical study of 1,550 patients. *European journal of gynaecological oncology* **2016**, *37*, 348-352.
- 105. High-density lipoprotein and prostate cancer: An overview. *Journal of Epidemiology* **2013**, *23*, 313-319.
- 106. Dessi, S.; Batetta, B.; Pulisci, D.; Spano, O.; Cherchi, R.; Lanfranco, G.; Tessitore, L.; Costelli, P.; Baccino, F.M.; Anchisi, C., *et al.* Altered pattern of lipid metabolism in patients with lung cancer. *Oncology* **1992**, *49*, 436-441.
- Dessi, S.; Batetta, B.; Pulisci, D.; Accogli, P.; Pani, P.; Broccia, G. Total and hdl cholesterol in human hematologic neoplasms. *International journal of hematology* 1991, 54, 483-486.
- 108. His, M.; Dartois, L.; Fagherazzi, G.; Boutten, A.; Dupre, T.; Mesrine, S.; Boutron-Ruault, M.C.; Clavel-Chapelon, F.; Dossus, L. Associations between serum lipids and breast

cancer incidence and survival in the e3n prospective cohort study. *Cancer causes & control* : *CCC* **2017**, *28*, 77-88.

- 109. Dessi, S.; Batetta, B.; Spano, O.; Sanna, F.; Tonello, M.; Giacchino, M.; Tessitore, L.; Costelli, P.; Baccino, F.M.; Madon, E., *et al.* Clinical remission is associated with restoration of normal high-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels in children with malignancies. *Clinical science (London, England : 1979)* **1995**, *89*, 505-510.
- 110. Liu, M.; Xia, Y.; Ding, J.; Ye, B.; Zhao, E.; Choi, J.H.; Alptekin, A.; Yan, C.; Dong, Z.; Huang, S., *et al.* Transcriptional profiling reveals a common metabolic program in highrisk human neuroblastoma and mouse neuroblastoma sphere-forming cells. *Cell reports* 2016, 17, 609-623.
- 111. Bengoechea-Alonso, M.T.; Ericsson, J. The phosphorylation-dependent regulation of nuclear srebp1 during mitosis links lipid metabolism and cell growth. *Cell Cycle* **2016**, *15*, 2753-2765.
- Mulas, M.F.; Abete, C.; Pulisci, D.; Pani, A.; Massidda, B.; Dessi, S.; Mandas, A. Cholesterol esters as growth regulators of lymphocytic leukaemia cells. *Cell Proliferation* 2011, 44, 360-371.
- 113. Connelly, M.A.; Kellner-Weibel, G.; Rothblat, G.H.; Williams, D.L. Sr-bi-directed hdlcholesteryl ester hydrolysis. *J Lipid Res* **2003**, *44*, 331-341.
- 114. Kellner-Weibel, G.; de La Llera-Moya, M.; Connelly, M.A.; Stoudt, G.; Christian, A.E.; Haynes, M.P.; Williams, D.L.; Rothblat, G.H. Expression of scavenger receptor bi in cos-7 cells alters cholesterol content and distribution. *Biochemistry* **2000**, *39*, 221-229.
- 115. Chang, T.Y.; Chang, C.C.; Ohgami, N.; Yamauchi, Y. Cholesterol sensing, trafficking, and esterification. *Annual review of cell and developmental biology* **2006**, *22*, 129-157.
- 116. Rogers, M.A.; Liu, J.; Song, B.L.; Li, B.L.; Chang, C.C.; Chang, T.Y. Acylcoa:Cholesterol acyltransferases (acats/soats): Enzymes with multiple sterols as substrates and as activators. *The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology* 2015, 151, 102-107.
- Parini, P.; Davis, M.; Lada, A.T.; Erickson, S.K.; Wright, T.L.; Gustafsson, U.; Sahlin, S.; Einarsson, C.; Eriksson, M.; Angelin, B., *et al.* Acat2 is localized to hepatocytes and is the major cholesterol-esterifying enzyme in human liver. *Circulation* 2004, *110*, 2017-2023.
- 118. Lee, R.G.; Willingham, M.C.; Davis, M.A.; Skinner, K.A.; Rudel, L.L. Differential expression of acat1 and acat2 among cells within liver, intestine, kidney, and adrenal of nonhuman primates. *J Lipid Res* **2000**, *41*, 1991-2001.
- 119. Chang, T.Y.; Chang, C.C.; Lin, S.; Yu, C.; Li, B.L.; Miyazaki, A. Roles of acylcoenzyme a:Cholesterol acyltransferase-1 and -2. *Curr Opin Lipidol* **2001**, *12*, 289-296.
- 120. Burnett, J.R.; Huff, M.W. Avasimibe pfizer. *Current opinion in investigational drugs* (London, England : 2000) **2002**, *3*, 1328-1333.
- 121. Llaverias, G.; Laguna, J.C.; Alegret, M. Pharmacology of the acat inhibitor avasimibe (ci-1011). *Cardiovascular drug reviews* **2003**, *21*, 33-50.
- 122. Huttunen, H.J.; Kovacs, D.M. Acat as a drug target for alzheimer's disease. *Neuro-Degenerative Diseases* **2008**, *5*, 212-214.
- 123. Nissen, S.E.; Tuzcu, E.M.; Brewer, H.B.; Sipahi, I.; Nicholls, S.J.; Ganz, P.; Schoenhagen, P.; Waters, D.D.; Pepine, C.J.; Crowe, T.D., *et al.* Effect of acat inhibition on the progression of coronary atherosclerosis. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2006, *354*, 1253-1263.

- 124. Antalis, C.J.; Arnold, T.; Rasool, T.; Lee, B.; Buhman, K.K.; Siddiqui, R.A. High acat1 expression in estrogen receptor negative basal-like breast cancer cells is associated with ldl-induced proliferation. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* **2010**, *122*, 661-670.
- 125. Li, J.; Gu, D.; Lee, S.S.; Song, B.; Bandyopadhyay, S.; Chen, S.; Konieczny, S.F.; Ratliff, T.L.; Liu, X.; Xie, J., *et al.* Abrogating cholesterol esterification suppresses growth and metastasis of pancreatic cancer. *Oncogene* **2016**, *35*, 6378-6388.
- 126. Bemlih, S.; Poirier, M.D.; El Andaloussi, A. Acyl-coenzyme a: Cholesterol acyltransferase inhibitor avasimibe affect survival and proliferation of glioma tumor cell lines. *Cancer Biol Ther* **2010**, *9*, 1025-1032.
- 127. Lee, S.S.; Li, J.; Tai, J.N.; Ratliff, T.L.; Park, K.; Cheng, J.X. Avasimibe encapsulated in human serum albumin blocks cholesterol esterification for selective cancer treatment. *ACS Nano* **2015**, *9*, 2420-2432.
- 128. Matsumoto, A.; Naito, M.; Itakura, H.; Ikemoto, S.; Asaoka, H.; Hayakawa, I.; Kanamori, H.; Aburatani, H.; Takaku, F.; Suzuki, H., *et al.* Human macrophage scavenger receptors: Primary structure, expression, and localization in atherosclerotic lesions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **1990**, *87*, 9133-9137.
- 129. Smith, P.K.; Krohn, R.I.; Hermanson, G.T.; Mallia, A.K.; Gartner, F.H.; Provenzano, M.D.; Fujimoto, E.K.; Goeke, N.M.; Olson, B.J.; Klenk, D.C. Measurement of protein using bicinchoninic acid. *Analytical biochemistry* **1985**, *150*, 76-85.
- 130. Temel, R.E.; Trigatti, B.; DeMattos, R.B.; Azhar, S.; Krieger, M.; Williams, D.L. Scavenger receptor class b, type i (sr-bi) is the major route for the delivery of high density lipoprotein cholesterol to the steroidogenic pathway in cultured mouse adrenocortical cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **1997**, *94*, 13600-13605.
- 131. Rasband, W.S. Imagej. U. S. National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland, USA: 1997-2016.
- 132. Chan, L.L.; Lai, N.; Wang, E.; Smith, T.; Yang, X.; Lin, B. A rapid detection method for apoptosis and necrosis measurement using the cellometer imaging cytometry. *Apoptosis : an international journal on programmed cell death* **2011**, *16*, 1295-1303.
- 133. Spolitu, S.; Uda, S.; Deligia, S.; Frau, A.; Collu, M.; Angius, F.; Batetta, B. Multidrug resistance p-glycoprotein dampens sr-bi cholesteryl ester uptake from high density lipoproteins in human leukemia cells. *American journal of cancer research* **2016**, *6*, 615-627.
- 134. Reynolds, C.P.; Biedler, J.L.; Spengler, B.A.; Reynolds, D.A.; Ross, R.A.; Frenkel, E.P.; Smith, R.G. Characterization of human neuroblastoma cell lines established before and after therapy. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* **1986**, *76*, 375-387.
- 135. Biedler, J.L.; Helson, L.; Spengler, B.A. Morphology and growth, tumorigenicity, and cytogenetics of human neuroblastoma cells in continuous culture. *Cancer Res* **1973**, *33*, 2643-2652.
- 136. COG. Sms-kcn. <u>http://www.cogcell.org/dl/NB_Data_Sheets/SMS-KCN_Cell_Line_Data_Sheet_COGcell_org.pdf</u> (10/16/17),
- 137. COG. Sk-n-be (2). http://www.cogcell.org/dl/NB_Data_Sheets/SK-N-BE2_Cell_Line_Data_Sheet_COGcell_org.pdf (10/16/17),
- 138. Kovalevich, J.; Langford, D. Considerations for the use of sh-sy5y neuroblastoma cells in neurobiology. In *Neuronal cell culture: Methods and protocols*, Amini, S.; White, M.K., Eds. Humana Press: Totowa, NJ, 2013; pp 9-21.

- 139. Kovalevich, J.; Langford, D. Considerations for the use of sh-sy5y neuroblastoma cells in neurobiology. *Methods in molecular biology (Clifton, N.J.)* **2013**, *1078*, 9-21.
- Biedler, J.L.; Roffler-Tarlov, S.; Schachner, M.; Freedman, L.S. Multiple neurotransmitter synthesis by human neuroblastoma cell lines and clones. *Cancer Res* 1978, 38, 3751-3757.
- 141. Keshelava, N.; Seeger, R.C.; Groshen, S.; Reynolds, C.P. Drug resistance patterns of human neuroblastoma cell lines derived from patients at different phases of therapy. *Cancer research* **1998**, *58*, 5396-5405.
- 142. Ciccarone, V.; Spengler, B.A.; Meyers, M.B.; Biedler, J.L.; Ross, R.A. Phenotypic diversification in human neuroblastoma cells: Expression of distinct neural crest lineages. *Cancer Res* **1989**, *49*, 219-225.
- 143. Center, M.S.K.C. Sk-n-be(2)-c: Human neuroblastoma cell line (atcc crl-2268). https://www.mskcc.org/research-advantage/support/technology/tangiblematerial/sk-n-be-2-c-human-neuroblastoma-cell-line (10/16/2017),
- 144. ATCC. Be(2)-c (atcc® crl-2268[™]). <u>https://www.atcc.org/products/all/CRL-2268.aspx specifications</u> (10/16/2017),
- 145. Salazar, B.M.; Balczewski, E.A.; Ung, C.Y.; Zhu, S. Neuroblastoma, a paradigm for big data science in pediatric oncology. *Int J Mol Sci* **2016**, *18*.
- 146. Tosi, M.R.; Tugnoli, V. Cholesteryl esters in malignancy. *Clinica Chimica Acta* 2005, *359*, 27-45.
- 147. Greenspan, P.M., E. P.; Fowler, S. D. Nile red: A selective fluorescent stain for intracellular lipid droplets. *The Journal of Cell Biology* **1985**, *100*, 965-973.
- 148. Uda, S.; Accossu, S.; Spolitu, S.; Collu, M.; Angius, F.; Sanna, F.; Banni, S.; Vacca, C.; Murru, E.; Mulas, C., *et al.* A lipoprotein source of cholesteryl esters is essential for proliferation of cem-ccrf lymphoblastic cell line. *Tumour Biol* **2012**, *33*, 443-453.
- 149. Tsuruoka, H.; Khovidhunkit, W.; Brown, B.E.; Fluhr, J.W.; Elias, P.M.; Feingold, K.R. Scavenger receptor class b type i is expressed in cultured keratinocytes and epidermis. Regulation in response to changes in cholesterol homeostasis and barrier requirements. J Biol Chem 2002, 277, 2916-2922.
- 150. Meuleman, P.; Catanese, M.T.; Verhoye, L.; Desombere, I.; Farhoudi, A.; Jones, C.T.; Sheahan, T.; Grzyb, K.; Cortese, R.; Rice, C.M., *et al.* A human monoclonal antibody targeting scavenger receptor class b type i precludes hepatitis c virus infection and viral spread in vitro and in vivo. *Hepatology* **2012**, *55*, 364-372.
- 151. Drummer, H.E. Antibodies to the high-density lipoprotein receptor sr-b1 potently inhibit hepatitis c virus replication in vivo: New avenues for preventing reinfection of the liver following transplantation. *Hepatology (Baltimore, Md.)* **2014**, *60*, 1463-1465.
- 152. Van Maerken, T.; Rihani, A.; Dreidax, D.; De Clercq, S.; Yigit, N.; Marine, J.-C.; Westermann, F.; De Paepe, A.; Vandesompele, J.; Speleman, F. Functional analysis of the p53 pathway in neuroblastoma cells using the small-molecule mdm2 antagonist nutlin-3. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics* **2011**, *10*, 983-993.
- 153. Sabnis, N.; Pratap, S.; Akopova, I.; Bowman, P.W.; Lacko, A.G. Pre-clinical evaluation of rhdl encapsulated retinoids for the treatment of neuroblastoma. *Frontiers in pediatrics* **2013**, *I*, 6.